
 

 

www.eden.gov.uk         

Rose Rouse 
Chief Executive 

Date: 5 February 2020 
 
 
 
 

Town Hall, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF 

Tel: 01768 817817 

Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 

Planning Committee Agenda - 13 February 2020 
 

Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Planning Committee will be held at 9.30 am on 
Thursday, 13 February 2020 at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Penrith. 
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
 

2   Minutes   
 

To sign the minutes Pla/113/01/20 to Pla/124/01/20 of the meeting of this Committee 
held on 16 January 2020 as a correct record of those proceedings (copies 
previously circulated). 
 

3   Declarations of Interest   
 

To receive any declarations of the existence and nature of any private interests, both 
disclosable pecuniary and any other registrable interests, in any matter to be 
considered or being considered. 
 

4   Appeal Decision Letters  (Pages 5 - 16) 
 

To receive report PP7/20 from the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development which is attached and which lists decision letters from the Planning 
Inspectorate received since the last meeting:  
 

Application 
No. 

Applicant/Appeal Appeal Decision 

18/0985 Dr Anderson and Dr Parratt  
Land North East of East Lodge, 
Edenhall, Penrith CA11 8SX  
 
The appeal is made under section 
78 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 against a refusal 
to grant outline planning permission.  
 
The development proposed is 
described as ‘erection of a dwelling 
with all matters reserved.’ 

The appeal is 
dismissed 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 2 

 

19/0378 Addis Town Planning Ltd  
Barn South of Maiden Way, Kirkby 
Thore, Penrith CA10 1XS  
 
The appeal is made under section 
78 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 against a refusal 
to grant approval required under 
Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the 
Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as 
amended).  
 
The development proposed is 
described as ‘conversion of an 
agricultural barn to the south of 
Maiden Way, Kirkby Thore, to a 
dwellinghouse (use class C3) 
including the retention of the walls, 
the steel frame, the concrete plinth, 
and external cladding with new 
materials to match as existing in 
design and appearance.’ 
 

The appeal is 
dismissed 

 

5   Planning Issues  (Pages 17 - 24) 
 

To note the attached lists of the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development.  

a) Applications determined under office delegated powers for the month of 
January 2020 

b) Reasons for refusal on delegated decisions for the month of January 2020 
 

6   Planning Issues - Applications for Debate (Green Papers)  (Pages 25 - 78) 
 

To consider the reports of the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development on the following applications:  
 

Item 
No 

Application Details 
Officer 
Recommendation 

Page 
Number 

1 Planning Application No: 19/0719 

 
Erection of one local occupancy dwelling 
 
Land north of Cornerstone Cottage, 
Great Strickland, CA10 3DG 
 
Mr P Hussy 

Recommended to: 
 

APPROVE 
Subject to 
Conditions 

27 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 3 

2 Planning Application No: 19/0433 
 
Change of use of agricultural building to 
Class B8 (storage or distribution) and 
addition of new access 
 
Cattle Shed, Hartley Fold, Hartley 
 
The John Strutt Conservation Fund 

Recommended to: 
 

APPROVE 
Subject to conditions 

44 

3 Planning Application No: 19/0759 

 
Installation of conservation velux roof 
lights, French doors, steps, renew 
guard/handrail to existing roof terrace, 
alter hipped roof to gable end and install 
triangular picture window 
 
Osborne House, Front Street, Alston 
 
Mrs G Williams 

Recommended to: 
 

APPROVE 
Subject to 
Conditions 

56 

4 Planning Application No: 19/0793 
 
Additional holiday lodges at Moss Bank 
Lodge Park, Great Salkeld and erection 
of a replacement shed 
 
Moss Bank Lodge Park, Great Salkeld, 
Penrith 
 
Mr Beard 

Recommended to: 
 

APPROVE 
Subject to 
Conditions 

66 

 
 

7   Quarterly Planning Performance Report - 2019/20 Quarter 3  (Pages 79 - 
84) 
 

To consider report PP5/20 from the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development which is attached and which seeks to provide Members with an 
overview of the ongoing performance of the Council’s Planning Service in relation to 
Key Performance Indicators and Planning Enforcement matters. 
 
RECOMMENDATION that the report be noted. 
 

8   Confirmation of Site Visits (if any)   
 

To confirm the date and location of any site visits that may have been agreed. 
 

9   Any Other Items which the Chairman decides are urgent   
 

10   Date of Next Meeting   
 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 4 

The date of the next scheduled meeting be confirmed as 19 March 2020. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
R Rouse 
Chief Executive 
 
Democratic Services Contact: Vivien Little 
 
 
Encs 
 
For Attention 
All members of the Council 
 
Chairman – Councillor W Patterson (Independent Group) 
Vice Chairman – Councillor I Chambers (Conservative Group) 
 
Councillors 

M Clark, Independent Group 
M Eyles, Liberal Democrat Group 
D Holden, Liberal Democrat Group 
J C Lynch, Conservative Group 
A Ross, Green Group 
 

H Sawrey-Cookson, Independent Group 
G Simpkins, Liberal Democrat Group 
J G Thompson, Conservative Group 
D Wicks, Conservative Group 
 

 
Standing Deputies 

P G Baker, Liberal Democrat Group 
D Banks, Independent Group 
L Harker, Liberal Democrat Group 
S Lancaster, Independent Group 
D Lawson, Green Group 
 

A Meadowcroft, Conservative Group 
G Nicolson OBE, Conservative Group 
D Ryland, Independent Group 
D Smith, Liberal Democrat Group 
 

Please Note:  
1. Access to the internet in the Council Chamber and Committee room is 

available via the guest wi-fi – no password is required 
2. Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 this 

meeting has been advertised as a public meeting (unless stated otherwise) 
and as such could be filmed or recorded by the media or members of the 
public 



 
 

Report No: PP7/20 

Eden District Council 
 

Planning Committee 
13 February 2020 

Appeal Decision Letters 

Report of the Assistant Director Planning 
 and Economic Development 

 
Attached for Members’ information is a list of Decision Letters received since the last 
meeting: 
 

Application 
Number(s) 

Applicant Appeal Decision 

18/0985 Dr Anderson and Dr Parratt 
Land North East of East Lodge, Edenhall, 
Penrith CA11 8SX 
 
The appeal is made under section 78 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant outline planning permission. 
 
The development proposed is described as 
‘erection of a dwelling with all matters reserved.’ 

The appeal is 
dismissed. 

19/0378 Addis Town Planning Ltd 
Barn South of Maiden Way, Kirkby Thore, 
Penrith CA10 1XS 
 
The appeal is made under section 78 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant approval required under 
Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended). 
 
The development proposed is described as 
‘conversion of an agricultural barn to the south 
of Maiden Way, Kirkby Thore, to a 
dwellinghouse (use class C3) including the 
retention of the walls, the steel frame, the 
concrete plinth, and external cladding with new 
materials to match as existing in design and 
appearance.’ 

The appeal is 
dismissed. 

 
Oliver Shimell 

Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

Page  5

Agenda Item 4



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 7 October 2019 

by J M Tweddle BSc(Hons) MSc(Dist) MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 21 January 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/H0928/W/19/3234058 

Land North East of East Lodge, Edenhall, Penrith CA11 8SX 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Dr Anderson & Dr Parratt against the decision of Eden District 
Council. 

• The application Ref 18/0985, dated 10 December 2018, was refused by notice dated 31 
January 2019. 

• The development proposed is described as ‘erection of a dwelling with all matters 
reserved’. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Procedural Matters  

2. The application was made in outline with all matters reserved for future 

consideration. I have therefore taken any indication of reserved matters shown 

on the submitted drawings to be illustrative only.  

3. For clarity, I have taken the site address from the Council’s decision notice 

which includes the postal town of Penrith and is, therefore, a more accurate 

reflection of the site’s location.  

4. A revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 
was published on 19 February 2019 and this post-dates the Council’s refusal 

notice. I have had regard to the revised Framework in my decision and I am 

satisfied that this has not prejudiced any party as they have had the 

opportunity to comment during the appeal proceedings.    

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are:  

i) Whether the site is a suitable location for residential development, having 

regard to the local development strategy for the area, and;  

ii) The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the 

surrounding area.  

Reasons 

Suitability of the location  

6. The suitability of the location for residential development, in this case, turns on 

whether the site can reasonably be considered to form part of the settlement of 

Page  6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3234058 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Edenhall and, if so, whether it would amount to limited infill or rounding off as 

permitted by Policy LS1 of the Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 (the ELP).  

7. The appeal site is an area of land located to the northeast of East Lodge, a 

detached residential property. The site is separated from East Lodge by a 

narrow lane known locally as Church Lane which provides access from the 
village of Edenhall to St Cuthbert’s Church to the southeast. The site is 

understood to be a residential garden associated with East Lodge and 

comprises an orchard with well-kempt lawns and hedging. Beyond the gardens, 
the site is surrounded by agricultural pasture land to the north, east and south, 

with a stone barn located in the field to the northeast.   

8. The appellants are of the view that the appeal site forms an integral part of the 

garden of East Lodge, which, in turn, they consider to form part of the 

settlement of Edenhall. To support their assertion, they have drawn my 
attention to a recent planning approval1 for the erection of a dwelling within the 

southwest garden of East Lodge where they suggest the Council acknowledged 

that East Lodge could be construed as being within the settlement of Edenhall. 

I have been provided with a copy of the Council’s Delegated Report pertaining 
to this previous approval and note that the Officer describes East Lodge and 

the site as being ‘separated from the village of Edenhall by an agricultural 

field’. The report goes on to state that: 

‘The applicant’s property [East Lodge] does lie 70m distant of the nearest 

dwelling in the village of Edenhall and is separated from it by a field grazed by 
sheep. Notionally therefore it could be considered as being outside of the urban 

area and within open countryside. The experience of being on the ground at 

the site itself however gives one the impression of being part of the village, 
albeit separated by the narrow field… Whether or not the site is open 

countryside or part of the village is inconclusive, since persuasive arguments 

can be made either way’ (my emphasis).  

9. The assessment was not definitive in this regard and so it does not provide a 

firm conclusion as to whether that site or East Lodge can reasonably be 
considered to form part of the settlement of Edenhall. I also note that, at the 

time of this previous approval the Council was unable to demonstrate a five 

year housing land supply and therefore the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development applied. The assessment was, therefore, ‘on balance’ 
in favour of granting permission and in recognition of the Government’s 

positive growth agenda. The decision was also prior to the adoption of the ELP 

in October 2018 and so the policy context was different. Consequently, I give 
little weight to this previous grant of planning permission and have determined 

the appeal on the basis of the evidence before me, in light of the current policy 

context and based on my own assessment of the site, its surrounding context 
and its relationship with the built up area of the village.   

10. It is a matter of fact that East Lodge and its gardens, including the appeal site, 

are surrounded by undeveloped countryside, which physically separate it from 

the built up area of Edenhall. Indeed, East Lodge and the appeal site are 

situated some distance from Tea Rose Cottage and Lilac Cottage which form 
the last properties within the village on either side of Church Lane. Beyond this, 

two paddocks flank each side of the lane, providing a physical break in built 

development and thereby separate East Lodge and the appeal site from the 

                                       
1 Local Planning Authority Ref. 17/0486 

Page  7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3234058 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

settlement. Furthermore, the undeveloped and verdant character of the site is 

more closely related to the surrounding countryside than that of the 

settlement. Thus, notwithstanding the Councils previous decision in relation to 
the southwest garden of East Lodge, I find that both East Lodge and the appeal 

site cannot reasonably be considered to form part of the settlement. They are 

located within open countryside outside of the settlement of Edenhall. As such, 

there can be no question as to whether the development would be limited infill 
or rounding off development.    

11. I acknowledge that the site, along with East Lodge, falls within the boundary of 

the Edenhall Conservation Area, is within approximately 200 metres of the core 

of the village and that it is closer to the settlement than both Edenhall Cross 

and St Cuthbert’s Church. However, these factors do not define the extent of 
the settlement and do not, therefore, alter my findings on this main issue.   

12. The location of the Old School House and the fact that Edenhall includes areas 

of unbuilt frontage does not change the fact that the appeal site is physically 

detached from the settlement. Nor does the site’s historical association with the 

Edenhall Estate, the former line of ‘Ladies Walk’ or the historical maps of the 
area lead me to a different conclusion. In fact, the historical maps support my 

findings, in this regard, demonstrating that East Lodge and the appeal site 

have always been separated from the settlement by undeveloped land.   

13. For all these reasons, I find that the appeal site is not a suitable location for 

residential development, having regard to the local development strategy for 
the area. It is contrary to Policy LS1 of the ELP which restricts development in 

other rural areas outside of key hubs and smaller villages and hamlets to the 

re-use of traditional buildings, the provision of affordable housing or where 
proposals would meet an exception set out elsewhere in the Local Plan.  

14. Given that I have found the site to be located within the open countryside, 

Policy HS2 of the ELP is of no relevance to the proposal.  

Character and appearance  

15. Edenhall is largely a nucleated settlement with its historic core centred around 
a paddock which has the initial appearance of a village green but is enclosed by 

stone walls and grazed by sheep, a reflection of the village’s historical 

association with the farming community. While this area is the focus of the 

village’s historic centre, a further cluster of development exists to the 
southwest at St Cuthbert’s Place. The open and spacious aspects of the fields 

and undeveloped countryside which surround the settlement, coupled with 

large areas of unbuilt frontage within the village, provide a positive contribution 
to the overall character of the area and form an important rural setting that 

frames the village.  

16. The appeal site, while exhibiting some characteristics of a residential garden, is 

much less domesticated than the rest of the grounds associated with East 

Lodge. Its verdant undeveloped character is more closely related to the 
surrounding countryside and, therefore, makes a positive contribution to the 

intrinsic rural setting of the village and the surrounding landscape. Even though 

all matters are reserved for subsequent approval, a residential development at 
the site would stand out as being a discordant feature, particularly given its 

open countryside location and the lack of any built form to the east of the lane 

other than a simple agricultural barn in the neighbouring field.  

Page  8

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3234058 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

17. The introduction of a dwelling into this rural landscape setting would erode its 

rural character and, in turn, would have a negative impact on the rural 

character and setting of the village. The development would be noticeably and 
visibly detached from East Lodge and set apart from the nearby settlement. It 

would, therefore, be an obvious and significant spatial encroachment towards 

the open countryside. As a result, the proposal does not demonstrate a clear 

understanding of the form and character of the surrounding built and natural 
environment and would disrupt the prevailing undeveloped rural character of 

its immediate surroundings.  

18. I accept that the development is likely to be imperceptible in long distance 

views, yet this does not outweigh the harm I have found to the character and 

appearance of its immediate surroundings. While a degree of landscaping could 
reduce these harmful effects, the dwelling would still be visible from nearby 

views along Church Lane and the Public Right of Way to the southeast, 

appearing as a discordant form of development encroaching into the 
countryside. Furthermore, landscaping ought to be used to soften, enhance or 

complement the appearance of new development not to conceal inappropriate 

development that fails to contribute to, or is at odds with, its surroundings. The 

opportunity to enhance existing native hedgerows is of limited weight.  

19. Consequently, the proposal would have a significant harmful effect on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. It follows, therefore, that 

the proposal would fail to comply with Policies DEV5 and ENV2 of the ELP which 

together require new development to show a clear understanding of the form 

and character of the district’s built and natural environment and to conserve 
and enhance distinctive elements of landscape character. In this regard, it 

would also conflict with the aims of Sections 12 and 15 of the Framework which 

require development to be sympathetic to local character and recognise the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. 

Other matters  

20. The site is located within the Edenhall Conservation Area (CA) and while the 
effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance of the CA 

is not in dispute, I am mindful of my statutory duty in this regard. The 

Council’s Conservation Officer raised no objection to the proposal and, given 

that the site is located some distance from the historic core of the village, I see 
no reason to disagree with this assessment. As such, the proposal is likely to 

have a negligible effect on the CA and would, therefore, preserve its overall 

character and appearance.  

21. I recognise that the Framework promotes the effective use of land including 

previously developed or brownfield land. However, even if I were to accept the 
appellant’s claim that the site constitutes previously developed land, this does 

not amount to a presumption in favour of developing the appeal site and, as 

such, it would not outweigh the principle conflict I have found with the 
Council’s locational strategy.  

22. Despite assurances that the dwelling would be limited in scale to a single 

storey building and would utilise local materials, I am conscious that these are 

reserved matters. In any case, such assurances would not overcome my 

concerns in respect of the site’s suitability for residential development nor the 
harm I have found to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  

Page  9

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3234058 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

23. In support of their case, the appellants have drawn my attention to an appeal 

decision for residential development at South Dykes2. In that case the decision 

turned on whether the proposal would amount to a ‘rounding off’ of the 
settlement. However, in this case the appeal site lies within the open 

countryside, detached from any settlement. Therefore, this previous appeal 

decision is not comparable to the current appeal proposal and is of little weight.  

24. I appreciate the appellants’ longstanding connection with the area, their desire 

to build a property that would allow them to downsize and I recognise that they 
are very active in the local community, enabling access to St Cuthbert’s Church 

and maintaining its security. The proposal would contribute an additional 

dwelling to the local housing stock and potentially free up a family home. I also 

acknowledge the letters of support from interested third parties and the lack of 
objection from the local Parish Council and other consultees. However, these 

considerations do not outweigh the harm I have found in this case and the 

resulting conflict with the development plan.  

Conclusion  

25. For the reasons I have set out, the appeal is dismissed.   

J M Tweddle  

INSPECTOR 

 

                                       
2 APP/H0928/W/18/3194233 

Page  10

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 7 January 2020 

by F Cullen  BA(Hons) MSc DipTP MRTPI IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 28 January 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/H0928/W/19/3235718 

Barn South of Maiden Way, Kirkby Thore, Penrith CA10 1XS 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant approval required under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 

amended). 
• The appeal is made by Addis Town Planning Ltd against the decision of Eden District 

Council. 
• The application Ref 19/0378, dated 30 May 2019, was refused by notice dated  

26 July 2019. 
• The development proposed is described as ‘conversion of an agricultural barn to the 

south of Maiden Way, Kirkby Thore, to a dwellinghouse (use class C3) including the 

retention of the walls, the steel frame, the concrete plinth, and external cladding with 
new materials to match as existing in design and appearance.’ 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The Council amended the description of the proposal to ‘Change of use of 
agricultural building to dwellinghouse.’ This was agreed by the appellant and 

used in the planning appeal form. I have therefore determined the appeal on 

this basis. 

3. I note that on the plans showing the Elevations and Sections as existing1 and 

as proposed2 the south west elevation is incorrectly labelled as the north west 
elevation. For the avoidance of doubt, I have taken this to be an error and 

determined the appeal on the basis of the correct label as the south west 

elevation.   

Main Issue 

4. The main issues are: 

• Whether the proposal would be permitted development under Schedule 2, 

Part 3, Class Q of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (GPDO), having regard 

to the requirements of Paragraphs Q(b) and Q.1.(i) in relation to works 
reasonably necessary for the building to function as a dwellinghouse; and 

 
1 Ref: HGKT/PBC/P/03 Rev A. 
2 Ref: HGKT/PBC/P/06 Rev A. 

Page  11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3235718 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

• If so, whether or not prior approval would be required in accordance with 

the conditions set out in paragraph Q.2(1) of the GPDO. 

Reasons 

Whether the proposal would be permitted development 

5. Class Q of the GPDO concerns a change of use of a building and any land within 

its curtilage from a use as an agricultural building to a dwellinghouse. 

Paragraph Q(b) states that the building operations reasonably necessary to 

convert the building to a dwellinghouse use would be permitted development, 
whilst Paragraph Q.1 outlines the circumstances where development would not 

be permitted by Class Q. It is common ground between the parties that the 

proposal complies with the requirements of Paragraphs Q.1(a)-(h) and  

(j)-(m). 

6. However, the parties disagree over whether the proposal complies with 
Paragraph Q.1.(i). Paragraph Q.1.(i) places restrictions on the building 

operations which can be undertaken. It states that development is not 

permitted if it would consist of building operations other than: (i) the 

installation or replacement of — (aa) windows, doors, roofs, or exterior walls, 
or (bb) water, drainage, electricity, gas or other services, to the extent 

reasonably necessary for the building to function as a dwellinghouse; and (ii) 

partial demolition to the extent reasonably necessary to carry out the building 
operations allowed.  

7. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further clarification in this 

regard3. It states that the right assumes that the agricultural building is 

capable of functioning as a dwelling. It goes on to confirm that the right 

permits building operations which are reasonably necessary to convert the 
building, which may include those which would affect the external appearance 

of the building and would otherwise require planning permission. It also 

explains that it is not the intention of the permitted development right to allow 

rebuilding work which would go beyond what is reasonably necessary for the 
conversion of the building to residential use. Therefore, it is only where the 

existing building is already suitable for conversion to residential use that the 

building would be considered to have the permitted development right. 

8. The PPG also confirms that internal works are generally not development. For 

the building to function as a dwelling it may be appropriate to undertake 
internal structural works, including to allow for a floor, the insertion of a 

mezzanine or upper floors within the overall residential floorspace permitted, or 

internal walls, which are not prohibited by Class Q. 

9. The Council does not dispute that the proposed building operations fall within 

the restricted building operations set out in Q.1 (i)(i) (aa) and (bb). However, it 
disagrees with the appellant that the extent of the building operations proposed 

are reasonably necessary for the building to function as a dwellinghouse. The 

appellant asserts that the works would not amount to a ‘rebuild’ or a ‘fresh 
build’ as too much of the original structure would be incorporated for this to be 

the case.  

 
3 Paragraph: 105  Reference ID: 13-105-20180615  Revision date: 15 06 2018. 

Page  12

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3235718 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

10. In my determination of the appeal I have had regard to the Hibbitt High Court 

Judgement4. This concerns a Class Q proposal and, amongst other things, 

considers the distinction between works required for the conversion of an 
existing agricultural structure or building to a dwellinghouse, and works 

amounting to its rebuilding or, in effect, the creation of a new building.  

11. I appreciate that the Hibbitt Judgement predates the most recent advice within 

the PPG and that, as highlighted by the appellant, the details of the case differ 

in some ways to the appeal before me. However, it is still relevant in that it 
concluded that ‘the concept of conversion has inherit limits which delineate it 

from a rebuild’ and that ‘it is a matter of legitimate planning judgment as to 

where the line is drawn.’  

12. The appeal building is a large, partly enclosed, agricultural barn. As described 

in the appellant’s statement of case, it consists of three distinct sections, the 
original being a traditional steel framed Dutch barn with a curved roof, a 

concrete posted barn adjacent with a pitched roof, and a lean-to structure. At 

the time of my site visit, part of it was being used to house cattle. 

13. The Dutch barn and lean-to have roofs of corrugated metal sheeting and the 

adjacent concrete posted barn has a roof of asbestos cement corrugated 

sheeting. The Dutch barn and adjacent concrete posted barn are enclosed on 
the lower part on the south west, north west and part of the north east 

elevations by upright concrete railway sleepers which are approximately 2m in 

height, set into the concrete floor and rendered internally. They are enclosed 
on the upper part on the north west and the majority of the south west 

elevations by single width corrugated metal sheeting.  

14. The south east elevation and the majority of the north east elevation are open 

to full height and small sections of the south west elevation and the north east 

elevation are open on the upper part. The lean-to is open on all sides. There is 
a concrete floor slab within the Dutch barn and adjacent concrete posted barn 

and a compacted hardcore floor within the timber posted lean-to. There are no 

subdividing elements within the barn apart from metal railings and a gate 
which forms an enclosure for cattle.  

15. The proposal would create a two storey, three bedroomed, detached dwelling. 

The appeal statement declares that the works include the reuse of the concrete 

plinth, the existing walls and the steel framed structure, the concrete uprights 

and the steel frame. It is stated that it will be necessary to replace the 
corrugated sheeting above the plinth and on the roof as well as inserting 

timber infill panels between the frame along part of the north east elevation. 

The south east elevation will be made up of windows with some limited 

cladding above. New openings for windows will be inserted into the existing 
structure and new materials on the south west and north east elevations. A 

new floor will be inserted above the existing concrete floor slab and a new first 

floor constructed internally. It will also include modern finishing techniques to 
resist moisture and increase insulation. No demolition is proposed.  

16. A Structural Survey accompanied the application5. It concludes that ‘the barn is 

suitable to facilitate the conversion to a dwelling. Little modification may be 

 
4 Hibbitt and Another v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government and Rushcliffe Borough Council  
[2016] EWHC 2853 (Admin). 
5 Structural Survey Kingmoor Consulting Ref 19-147c001, dated 24 May 2019. 

Page  13

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3235718 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

required to the existing frames and foundations and any works would allow the 

structure to provide additional moisture resistance and an increased level of 

insulation.’  

17. However, in relation to the proposed scheme of works, it states that it can be 

assumed that there would be some minimal ‘replacement of any damaged roof 
members’ and ‘limited strengthening of roof components’ to ensure that the 

loadings from the new roof cladding can be accommodated by the existing 

structure. Furthermore, it proclaims that ‘where required additional walls and 
structural support would be created using timber infill panels highly insulated to 

ensure compliance with the building regulations and may also provide 

additional barriers to resist moisture penetration.’ It also declares that the ‘new 

external infill panels would be fixed to the existing concrete and from 
inspection, it would appear this is suitable for fixings and to resist any 

additional loads from the infill panels.’ No additional information has been 

provided in relation to the detail of the proposed works. 

18. I acknowledge that any strengthening works required to the roof structure 

would be internal and therefore, as stated within the PPG, ‘not generally 
development’. I also accept that Class Q, does potentially allow for substantial 

works. However, having regard to the evidence before me, it is not entirely 

clear what the full nature and extent of the proposed building operations would 
be. The phraseology used in the Structural Survey such as ‘may’, ‘where 

required’ and ‘would appear’ in relation to the proposed works that would be 

necessary to convert the building to a dwellinghouse is very broad and not 

definitive. In addition, the annotated plans do not fully confirm in any great 
detail the form and extent of the proposed works.  

19. Even if I were to accept that the works were limited to what is indicated on the 

plans and in the appellant’s statement of case, although the proposal would 

retain and reuse the existing 2m concrete plinth, structural frame and 

foundations, and retain the floor, it appears that all of the other elements of 
the existing barn would be new materials, albeit some to match the existing. 

This would include the roof; exterior walls of the south east elevation (albeit 

glazed) and the majority of the north east elevation; the upper part of the 
building of the north west and south west elevations; windows; and doors. This 

area makes up a substantial surface area of the building’s external envelope 

and would mean that only the basic concrete and steel wall, frame and floor of 
the agricultural building would remain unchanged.  

20. Consequently, considering the building as a whole and the collective extensive 

nature of the proposed building operations, I am of the opinion that, on 

balance, they would be beyond what could be considered to be reasonably 

necessary for the building to function as a dwellinghouse. So much so that they 
would, to my mind, go beyond what could reasonably be described as a 

conversion scheme. 

21. Taking the above into account, I conclude that it has not been demonstrated 

that the proposal would be permitted development under Schedule 2, Part 3, 

Class Q of the GPDO, having regard to the requirements of Paragraphs Q(b) 
and Q.1.(i) in relation to works reasonably necessary for the building to 

function as a dwellinghouse. 

 

Page  14

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3235718 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

Prior approval 

22. I acknowledge that the Council has raised no concerns regarding the 

requirements of Paragraph Q.2 (1) (a) – (f) and that the appellant considers 

that there is no reason why these could not be met. However, given my 

conclusion that the evidence before me does not establish that the proposed 
change of use would be development permitted under Class Q of the GPDO, 

there is no need for me to consider whether or not prior approval would be 

required as it would not alter the outcome of the appeal. 

Other Matters 

23. The appellant has drawn my attention to a recent appeal decision6 which he 

considers is directly comparable to the appeal before me, where an Inspector 

concluded that the proposal ‘would amount to conversion of the cart shed and 
not re-building of it. The cart shed is capable of functioning as a dwelling 

following building works reasonably necessary to convert it. Therefore, it meets 

the requirement of Paragraph Q.1 (i)(i).’ I accept that there appear to be some 
comparisons with this case and the appeal before me. However, I am not fully 

familiar with the full details of this case, and in any event, I have determined 

this appeal on its individual planning merits, on the basis of the submitted 

information and my observations on site, and with appropriate regard to 
legislation and Government guidance. 

24. The appellant has confirmed that, should the appeal be allowed, it is highly 

likely that a subsequent application for planning permission for changes to the 

external appearance of the building would be made. This would include the 

cladding over of the railway sleepers with a continuation of the metal sheeting. 
The appellant states that the external cladding would not be necessary for the 

conversion though it would result in a more aesthetically pleasing and higher 

quality design. Be that as it may, as I have concluded that the proposal does 
not benefit from Class Q permitted development rights, this is not a 

determinative matter. 

Conclusion 

25. For the reasons given above, having regard to the requirements of Paragraphs 

Q(b) and Q.1.(i), I conclude that it has not been demonstrated that the 

proposal would comply with the description of permitted development as it is 

set out by Class Q, of Part 3, Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). The 

appeal is therefore dismissed.   

 

F Cullen 

INSPECTOR 

 
6 Ref: APP/Z3825/W/18/3211612. 

Page  15

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE

APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER OFFICER DELEGATED POWERS FOR THE MONTH OF JANUARY 2020

Agenda Item No.

App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0554 Full Application Carleton Park 
Recreation Group - Mr 

R Walker

Penrith APPROVEDInstallation of multi use games area and path. CARLETON PARK, CARLETON, 
PENRITH, 

19/0647 Full Application Mr T WisemanDufton APPROVEDReplacement porch, erection of greenhouse and 
installation of 16 no. solar panels to west of adjoining 
coach house building.

KEISLEY HOUSE, MURTON, 
APPLEBY, CA16 6NF

19/0686 Full Application Mr P DonaghueSkelton APPROVEDVariation of Condition 2 (plans compliance) to install 
oil tanks attached to approval 18/0484.

BARN ADJACENT RUSHGILL 
HOUSE, SKELTON WOOD END, 
SKELTON, PENRITH, CA11 9UB

19/0687 Full Application Trustees of the John 
Brazil Trust - c/o P F 

and K Plc

Stainmore APPROVEDDemolition of the existing 2 bedroom cottage and pre-
fabricated garage and construction of a new 3 
bedroom cottage with new garage and storage 
building.

BARRAS SIDE COTTAGE, BARRAS, 
KIRKBY STEPHEN, CA17 4ET

19/0688 Listed Building Mr P DonaghueSkelton APPROVEDVariation of Condition 2 (plans compliance) to install 
oil tanks attached to Listed Building Consent 18/0753.

BARN ADJACENT RUSHGILL 
HOUSE, SKELTON WOOD END, 
SKELTON, PENRITH, CA11 9UB

19/0702 Full Application Mr M HuschkaLong Marton APPROVEDSiting of static holiday caravans, laying of drive and 
parking plus waste water treatment system.

RISING SUN, CROFT ENDS, 
APPLEBY-IN-WESTMORLAND, 
CA16 6JL

19/0707 Full Application Mr C KilmurryLong Marton APPROVEDProposed extension and refurbishment. MIDTOWN FARMHOUSE, 
BRAMPTON, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6JS

19/0716 Cert. of Lawful A J Forster Ltd - Mr M 
Forster

Penrith APPROVEDCertificate of lawfulness for installation of Biomass 
Boiler System.

GREENGILL FOOT, INGLEWOOD 
ROAD, BOWSCAR, PENRITH, CA11 
8RP

19/0721 Cert. of Lawful A J Forster Ltd - Mr M 
Forster

Penrith APPROVEDCertificate of lawfulness for the Installation of 
Biomass Boiler System.

BEAVERLODGE POULTRY FARM, 
MAIDENHILL ROAD, PENRITH, 
CA11 8SQ

19/0750 Listed Building Mrs A Brett WillardAppleby APPROVEDListed building consent for the retention of fire 
opening/surround, installation of radiator and 
associated works. Replacement front door.

5 FRIARY COTTAGES, 
BATTLEBARROW, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6XT

19/0754 Full Application Mr & Mrs G & T TophamWarcop APPROVEDTwo storey extension and associated alterations. 1 THE SQUARE, SANDFORD, 
APPLEBY, CA16 6NR

31 January 2020 Page 1 of 6

P
age  17

A
genda Item

 5



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0757 Full Application Mrs T CrewdsonSoulby APPROVEDVariation of condition 2 (plans compliance) to include 
alterations to the byre attached to approval 10/0898.

WATERSIDE BARN, SOULBY, 
KIRKBY STEPHEN, CA17 4PL

19/0767 Full Application Mr C Harker- R Harker 
and Son

Musgrave APPROVEDChange of use from agricultural land to ancillary 
storage and service areas and extension to a former 
agricultural building.

SWALEDALE HOUSE, SWILLINGS 
LANE, LITTLE MUSGRAVE, KIRKBY 
STEPHEN, CA17 4PQ

19/0768 Listed Building TW & B Ewbank - Mr T 
Ewbank

Appleby APPROVEDListed Building Consent for re-roofing and external 
repairs.

12 BOROUGHGATE, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6XB

19/0771 Full Application Mr N ThompsonGreat Strickland APPROVEDRevised layout for 5 mobile homes approved under 
ref 16/0073 and siting of 8 additional pitches.

OAKLANDS COUNTRY PARK, 
GREAT STRICKLAND, PENRITH, 
CA10 3DH

19/0773 Advertisement MCDONALD'S 
RESTAURANTS LTD

Penrith APPROVEDAdvertisement consent for 3 no. illuminated digital 
freestanding signs and 1 no. illuminated digital booth 
screen.

MCDONALD'S RESTAURANT, 
PENRITH RAILWAY STATION, 
ULLSWATER ROAD, PENRITH, 
CA11 7JQ

19/0774 Full Application JIW Properties LTD- Mr 
Wilkinson

Sockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDProposed construction of garages to units 3 and 4 
(following outline approval 17/0095) together with 
minor amendments to reserved matters approval 
19/0024 for residential development.

LAND ADJ TO WALMAR, CROFT 
HEAD, SOCKBRIDGE, PENRITH, 

19/0775 Full Application Mr T BradleyKirkby Thore APPROVEDVariation of condition 5 (layout plan) attached to 
approval 17/0565.

COMPOUND 1 AND COMPOUND 2, 
KIRKBY THORE INDUSTRIAL 
ESTATE, KIRKBY THORE, 
PENRITH, CA10 1XA

19/0776 Listed Building Miss F MasonDacre APPROVEDListed building consent for demolition of outbuilding. WALNUT HOUSE, STAINTON, 
PENRITH, CA11 0ES

19/0785 Full Application Dr & Mrs CoxWinton APPROVEDVariation of condition 2 (plans compliance) in respect 
of design and layout attached to listed building 
consent 17/0700.

COACH HOUSE AT BECKFOOT 
HALL, APPLEBY ROAD, KIRKBY 
STEPHEN, CA17 4PG

19/0794 Full Application Penrith Cricket ClubPenrith APPROVEDRetrospective application for the siting of two 
portacabins for additional changing facilities and 
ancillary uses.

PENRITH CRICKET CLUB, 
TYNEFIELD PARK, WETHERIGGS 
LANE, PENRITH, CA11 8PE

19/0800 Full Application Hayton Agriculture LtdHesket APPROVEDDemolition of existing barns and construction of new 
silage clamp and wash facilities.

CAUSEWAY HOUSE, CARLETON, 
CARLISLE, CA4 0DA

19/0803 Full Application Mr K HoggBolton APPROVEDProposed agricultural building. LAND SOUTH EAST OF 
MANSGROVE FARM, BOLTON, 
APPLEBY, 

31 January 2020 Page 2 of 6

P
age  18



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0804 Full Application Mr J MitchellCastle Sowerby APPROVEDProposed conversion of existing attached barn and 
internal alterations and renovation of existing 
farmhouse.

MIRKBOOTHS, RAUGHTON HEAD, 
CARLISLE, CA5 7DT

19/0805 Listed Building Mr J MitchellCastle Sowerby APPROVEDListed building consent for proposed conversion of 
existing attached barn and internal alterations and 
renovation of existing farmhouse.

MIRKBOOTHS, RAUGHTON HEAD, 
CARLISLE, CA5 7DT

19/0807 Full Application Mr F MarkhamMorland REFUSEDCreation of Glamping Cabin. WILLIAMS WOOD, MORLAND, 
PENRITH, CA10 3BJ

19/0809 Full Application Mr D MartinHesket APPROVEDWidening of existing access and reduction in 
floorspace of agricultural building to enable access 
changes.

BOGGLE HALL, PLUMPTON, 
PENRITH, CA11 9NP

19/0810 Full Application Mr & Mrs D GreavesHesket APPROVEDDemolition of existing extension and construction of 
two storey construction.

TOWN FOOT COTTAGE, IVEGILL, 
CARLISLE, CA4 0PA

19/0811 Full Application Messrs Ashley - Mr R 
Ashley

Bolton APPROVEDErection of an agricultural livestock building. LAITHA, BOLTON, APPLEBY, CA16 
6AY

19/0813 Full Application McManus Builders Ltd - 
Mr R McManus

Hesket APPROVEDChange of bungalow design from previous approval 
16/0652.

PLOT 29 COOPERS CLOSE, HIGH 
HESKET, CARLISLE, CA4 0JH

19/0818 Full Application Mr R SpoonerStainmore APPROVEDChange of use of barn and associated alterations, 
new link building and side garage.

NEWTON GARTH, NORTH 
STAINMORE, KIRKBY STEPHEN, 
CA17 4DZ

19/0819 Full Application Mr & Mrs ThursbyBandleyside APPROVEDErection of a greenhouse. NETHER HOFF FARM, COLBY, 
APPLEBY-IN-WESTMORLAND, 
CA16 6BD

19/0822 Full Application Mr & Mrs M Haughey- 
Haughey Antiques

Kirkby Stephen APPROVEDChange of use from 1no. retail unit to 2no. retail units 
with two associated 1no. bedroom apartments 
above, and alterations to change of use of former 
cottage from workshop and storage space to 2no. 
bedroom dwelling and associated works.

30  MARKET STREET, KIRKBY 
STEPHEN, CA17 4QW

19/0823 Listed Building Mr & Mrs M Haughey- 
Haughey Antiques

Kirkby Stephen APPROVEDListed building consent for alterations to change of 
use from 1 no. retail unit to 2 no. retail units with two 
associated 1 no. bedroom apartments above and 
alterations to change of use of former cottage from 
workshop and storage space to 2 no. bedroom 
dwelling.

30  MARKET STREET, KIRKBY 
STEPHEN, CA17 4QW

19/0825 Full Application Mr A KenvigHesket APPROVEDErection of orangery. CALTHWAITE HALL, CALTHWAITE, 
PENRITH, CA11 9QU

31 January 2020 Page 3 of 6

P
age  19



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0827 Change of Use 
PD/PN

Stoneswood 
Developments Ltd

Sockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDConversion of an agricultural barn into one 
residential dwelling.

DUTCH BARN, HIGH FIELD FARM, 
TIRRIL, PENRITH, CA10 2LG

19/0831 Reserved by 
Cond

Mr H LanhamAlston APPROVEDDischarge of condition 3 (tree works) attached to 
approval 19/0031.

MILL HOUSE, NENTHALL, ALSTON, 
CA9 3LQ

19/0834 Full Application Atkinson Homes Ltd - 
Miss A Turner

Penrith APPROVEDTwo storey extension to existing commercial building. 1 BRANCANA COURT, EAST LAKES 
BUSINESS PARK, PENRITH, CA11 
9BB

19/0835 Full Application Mr & Mrs J & J FisherSkelton APPROVEDProposed erection of Agricultural General Purpose 
storage shed and polytunnel for seasonal lambing 
use.

CHURCH HOUSE, SKELTON, 
PENRITH, CA11 9TE

19/0836 Full Application Mr & Mrs ArmstrongHesket APPROVEDProposed two storey side extension. CROFT VIEW, LOW HESKET, 
CARLISLE, CA4 0EU

19/0837 Full Application Mr P CarrollAlston APPROVEDUse of residential premises as a guest house and 
associated alterations.

TEMPLE CROFT, TOWNFOOT, 
ALSTON, CA9 3RL

19/0838 Full Application Mr & Mrs HamiltonPenrith APPROVEDExtensions to front of property to provide additional 
living space and garage to side.

19 THE PARKLANDS, PENRITH, 
CA11 8TF

19/0839 Change of Use 
PD/PN

Stoneswood 
Developments Ltd

Sockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDConversion of agricultural barns to four dwellings. BARNS AT HIGH FIELD FARM, 
TIRRIL, PENRITH, CA10 2LG

19/0841 Full Application Mr & Mrs J MaltbyCrackenthorpe APPROVEDDemolition of existing single storey extension and 
erection of two storey rear extension.

WEST COTTAGE, 
CRACKENTHORPE, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6AF

19/0842 Reserved by 
Cond

Mr F D BaxterBolton APPROVEDDischarge of conditions 5 (visibility splays), 6 (roofing 
materials) and 7 (external hard surface and finishes) 
attached to approval 17/1034.

LAND AT VIOLET BANK FARM, 
BOLTON, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6AW

19/0845 Full Application JIW Properties Ltd - Mr 
Wilkinson

Sockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDVariation of condition 2 (plans compliance) for 
alterations to unit 2 attached to approval 19/0246.

LAND ADJACENT TO WALMAR, 
CROFT HEAD, SOCKBRIDGE, 
PENRITH, 

19/0848 Full Application Mr & Mrs BrennandBolton APPROVEDRear extension. 9 STEPHENSON CROFT, BOLTON, 
APPLEBY-IN-WESTMORLAND, 
CA16 6BE

19/0851 Full Application Mr & Mrs G and M 
Iredale

Culgaith APPROVEDChange of use of barn to offices with first floor 
extension.

HOW HILL, HUTTON ROOF, 
PENRITH, CA11 0XY

19/0852 Listed Building Mr & Mrs G and M 
Iredale

Castle Sowerby APPROVEDListed building consent for change of use of barn to 
offices, with first floor extension.

HOW HILL, HUTTON ROOF, 
PENRITH, CA11 0XY

31 January 2020 Page 4 of 6

P
age  20



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0855 Tree Works (CA) Laura SandersPenrith APPROVEDAsh - Prune to extent shown on marked photo to 
reduce impact on neighbouring property; Remove 
red-leaved tree beside patio; Remove Apple tree 
growing at an angle; Bramley Apple - Prune to extent 
shown on marked photo; Pear tree - prune to extent 
shown on marked photo; Plum tree - Prune to 
maintain and improve fruiting producion / avoid  
adverse impact on surrounding trees; Penrith New 
Streets Conservation Area.

37  WORDSWORTH STREET, 
PENRITH, CA11 7QY

19/0856 Full Application Dr & Mrs CoxWinton APPROVEDVariation of condition 2 (plans compliance) to include 
decking to north and west elevations attached to 
approval 17/0699.

COACH HOUSE, BECKFOOT HALL, 
APPLEBY ROAD, KIRKBY 
STEPHEN, CA17 4PG

19/0858 Full Application Mr D SmithLazonby APPROVEDChange of use of existing building to create an 
independent dwelling.

EDEN FIELD, ARMATHWAITE, 
CARLISLE, CA4 9PQ

19/0859 Notice of Intention Stoneswood 
Development Ltd

Sockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDDemolition of agricultural buildings. AGRICULTURAL BUILDINGS SOUTH 
OF HIGH FIELD FARM, TIRRIL, 
PENRITH, CA10 2LG

19/0861 Full Application Stoneswood 
Developments Ltd

Sockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDChange of use of agricultural buildings to create 
three dwellings with associated operations including 
the change of use additional land to residential, the 
demolition of existing agricultural sheds/buildings and 
infrastructure, the formation of a new parking/turning 
area, the upgrading/installation of new surface and 
foul water infrastructure and the resurfacing of the 
access and parking/turning areas.

HIGHFIELD FARM, TIRRIL, 
PENRITH, CA10 2LG

19/0862 Tree Works (CA) Mrs AclandPenrith APPROVED1. Variegated Holly: reduce and reshape to create 
seperation from Acer / reduce by 1/3 (approx 2m) to 
leave a 3-4m tree; 2. Laurel: Reduce by 1/3 (approx 
3m) to create seperation from Weeping Ash tree and 
a retained height of 5m; 3. Apple: Crown reduce by 
25% of leaf area, a 1-2m overall reduction; 4. 
Cypress Multi-stemmed: Reduce by 1/3 (3-4 metres), 
a retained height of 6m; Penrith New Streets 
Conservation Area.

21  ARTHUR STREET, PENRITH, 
CA11 7TU

19/0865 Non-Material 
Amend

Mrs S EdwardsHesket APPROVEDNon Material Amendment for the removal of T11 tree 
and addition of 2 fruit trees.

LAND ADJACENT 22  LAIKIN VIEW, 
CALTHWAITE, PENRITH, CA11 9QW

19/0872 Notice of Intention Mr J WearLong Marton APPROVEDNew agricultural side extension for storage. WHITE HOUSE, MILBURN GRANGE, 
KNOCK, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6DR

19/0881 Notice of Intention Mr A & Mrs R SteelSoulby APPROVEDProposed agricultural storage building. LOW HALL, LITTLE MUSGRAVE, 
KIRKBY STEPHEN, CA17 4PQ

31 January 2020 Page 5 of 6

P
age  21



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0882 Reserved Matters Mr I DaltonCatterlen APPROVEDReserved Matters for the erection of five dwellings 
following Outline Approval 19/0683.

LAND BETWEEN PARK VIEW & 
JOINERS BROW, CATTERLEN, 
PENRITH, CA11 0BQ

19/0888 Tree Works (CA) John Fleming - Culgaith 
Parish Council

Culgaith APPROVEDRemove tree No 10 which is dead and decaying; 
Remove tree No 16 in poor health with dead wood; 
Remove tree No 16a in poor health; Remove tree No 
58 in poor health; Trees identified in Tree Safety 
Survey; Skirwith Conservation Area.

LAND AT RECYCLING COLLECTION 
POINT, AND NEAR BECK 
COTTAGE, SKIRWITH, PENRITH, 
CA10 1RF

19/0892 Notice of Intention Messrs WalshDacre APPROVEDProposed agricultural building. BARN ADJACENT TO LOW FLUSCO 
WOOD, FLUSCO, PENRITH, CA11 
0JB

19/0901 Notice of Intention Mr K BurneLangwathby APPROVEDProposed portal frame building over existing cattle 
shed.

GREENLANDS, LANGWATHBY, 
PENRITH, CA10 1NU

19/0903 Notice of Intention Mr D CarlyleLazonby APPROVEDProposed demolition of former storage unit. BANK TOP STORE, LAZONBY, 
PENRITH, CA10 1AQ

19/0910 Non-Material 
Amend

Mr D Brass - D J & H 
Brass

Dacre APPROVEDNon material amendment comprising of change to 
window positions on main elevations, small 
patio/covered parking area and raising the roof 
height of training room, attached to approval 18/0907.

EAMONT CROFT, STAINTON, 
PENRITH, CA11 0EE

19/0918 Non-Material 
Amend

Mrs J AlbertPenrith APPROVEDNon Material Amendment to reduce footprint of 
proposal, replace 1 set of bi-fold doors with windows 
and internal alterations, attached to approval 17/0750.

63  WORDSWORTH STREET, 
PENRITH, CA11 7QY

In relation to each application it was considered whether the proposal was appropriate having regard to the Development Plan, the representations which were received 
including those from consultees and all other material considerations.  In cases where the application was approved the proposal was considered to be acceptable in planning 
terms having regard to the material considerations.  In cases where the application was refused the proposal was not considered to be acceptable having regard to the material 
and relevant considerations.  In all cases it was considered whether the application should be approved or refused and what conditions, if any, should be imposed to secure an 
acceptable form of development.

31 January 2020 Page 6 of 6

P
age  22



www.eden.gov.uk  Oliver Shimell LLB 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 
 

Notice of Decision 
 
 
 
To: Mr F Markham 

Greengill House 
Morland 
Penrith 

 CA10 3AX 
 
 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 

Application No: 19/0807 
On Behalf Of: Mr F Markham 
 
In pursuance of their powers under the above Act and Order, Eden District Council, as 
local planning authority, hereby REFUSE full planning permission for the development 
described in your application and on the plans and drawings attached thereto, viz: 
 
Application Type: Full Application 
Proposal: Creation of Glamping Cabin. 
Location:     WILLIAMS WOOD    MORLAND  PENRITH  CA10 3BJ 
 

The reason(s) for this decision are: 
 
1)  The application fails to accord with Policy EC4, Policy DEV5 and Policy ENV2 of the 
Eden Local Plan 2014-32 by virtue of the unacceptable harm cause to the natural 
landscape and rural nature of the open countryside. 
  
Where necessary the local planning authority has worked with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning 
application and to implement the requirements of the NPPF and the adopted development plan. 

 
Date of Decision: 23 January 2020 
 

Signed: 

 

Oliver Shimell LLB 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 
 
 

Carriage Return 

Mansion House, Penrith, Cumbria  CA11 7YG 
Tel: 01768 817817 

Page  23



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Index 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Eden District Council 

Planning Committee Agenda 
Committee Date: 13 February 2020 

INDEX 

Item 
No 

Application Details 
Officer 
Recommendation 

1 Planning Application No: 19/0719 

Erection of one local occupancy dwelling 

Land north of Cornerstone Cottage, Great Strickland, CA10 
3DG 

Mr P Hussy 

Recommended to: 

APPROVE 
Subject to Conditions 

2 Planning Application No: 19/0433 

Change of use of agricultural building to Class B8 (storage 
or distribution) and addition of new access 

Cattle Shed, Hartley Fold, Hartley 

The John Strutt Conservation Fund 

Recommended to: 

APPROVE 
Subject to Conditions 

3 Planning Application No: 19/0759 

Installation of conservation velux roof lights, French doors, 
steps, renew guard/handrail to existing roof terrace, alter 
hipped roof to gable end and install triangular picture window 

Osborne House, Front Street, Alston 

Mrs G Williams 

Recommended to: 

APPROVE 
Subject to Conditions 

4 Planning Application No: 19/0793 

Additional holiday lodges at Moss Bank Lodge Park, Great 
Salkeld and erection of a replacement shed 

Moss Bank Lodge Park, Great Salkeld, Penrith 

Mr Beard 

Recommended to: 

APPROVE 
Subject to Conditions 

Page  25

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Index 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 Page  26



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Date of Committee: 13 February 2020 

Planning Application No: 19/0719 Date Received: 1 October 2019 

OS Grid Ref: 355663 522897 Expiry Date: 17 February 2020 

Parish: Great Strickland Ward: Morland 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of one local occupancy dwelling 

Location: Land north of Cornerstone Cottage, Great Strickland, CA10 
3DG 

Applicant: Mr P Hussy 

Agent: Addis Town Planning Ltd 

Case Officer: Miss G Heron 

Reason for Referral: The officer recommendation is contrary to that of the Parish 
Council and there is a request from objectors to present their 
concerns to Planning Committee. 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and 
Database Rights (2016) 

Grid Ref: NY  

Page  27



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and 
Database Rights (2016) 

Grid Ref: NY  

Page  28



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

1. Recommendation 

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions/for the following reasons: 

Time Limit for Commencement 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
drawings hereby approved: 

i. Application Form received by the Local Planning Authority on 22 January 
2020 

ii. Location Plan, Drawing Number: 114-129-01-Rev C, received by the Local 
Planning Authority on 28 November 2019 

iii. As Proposed Site Plan, Drawing Number: 114-129-03-Rev B received by 
the Local Planning Authority on 28 November 2019 

iv. As Proposed Plan and Elevations, Drawing Number: 114-129-04 received 
by the Local Planning Authority on 1 October 2019 

v. As Proposed Plan and Elevations, Drawing Number: 114-129-05 received 
by the Local Planning Authority on 1 October 2019 

vi. As Proposed Plan and Elevations, Drawing Number: 114-129-06 received 
by 1 October 2019 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to avoid any ambiguity as to 
what constitutes the permission. 

Pre-Occupancy or Other Stage Conditions 

3. Prior to the construction of the dwelling, full details of a native species hedgerow 
to the full north west boundary of the application site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include the 
species, size of plants, the planting preparation and a maintenance scheme. 
These works shall be carried as approved prior to the occupation of the dwelling. 

 Reason: To ensure that the development is landscaped in the interest of the 
visual character and appearance of the area. 

Ongoing Conditions 

4. Any trees or other plants which die or are removed within the first five years 
following the implementation of the landscaping scheme shall be replaced during 
the next planting season. 

 Reason: To ensure that the development is landscaped in the interest of the 
visual character and appearance of the area. 

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Page  29



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or 
modifying that Order with or without modification), no development permitted by 
Class A (enlargement, improvement or other alteration of a dwellinghouse), Class 
B (additions etc to the roof of a dwellinghouse) and Class E (buildings etc 
incidental to the enjoyment of a dwellinghouse) inclusive of Part 1 Schedule 2 of 
that Order shall be carried out without express permission of the Council in 
writing. 

 Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to regulate and control the 
development of land having regard to Policy HS2 of the Eden Local Plan. 

6. The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person with a local connection 
to the locality, or a widow or widower of such a person, or any resident 
dependants. 

 Locality refers to the parish and surrounding parishes in the first instance. If a 
property has been actively marked for at least 6 months and an occupier cannot 
be found then the definition of locality will be extended out to include the County 
of Cumbria. 

 A person with a local connection means a person who meets one of the following 
criteria: 

 The person lives in the locality and has done for a continuous period of at 
least three years. 

 The person works permanently in the locality for a minimum of 16 hours per 
week. Where a person is employed in an established business that operates 
in multiple locations, their employment activities should take place 
predominantly inside the locality. 

 The person has a firm offer of permanent employment, for a minimum of 16 
hours per week in an already established business within the locality. 

 The person has moved away but has a strong established and continuous 
links with the locality by reason of birth or long term immediate family 
connections. 

 The person needs to live in the locality because they need substantial care 
from a relative who has lived in the locality for at least three years, or needs 
to provide substantial care to a relative who has lived in the locality for at 
least three years. Substantial care means that identified as required by a 
medical doctor or relevant statutory support agency. 

 Reason: To provide housing to meet local needs. 

Note to Developer 

1. The advice in the Rowan Tree Survey Report received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 18 November 2019 should be understood and taken into 
consideration during the construction phase of the development. 

2. Proposal and Site Description 

2.1 Proposal 

2.1.1 The proposal seeks full planning permission for the erection of one local occupancy 
dwelling, a detached garage and car port. 

Page  30



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2.1.2 Access to the site will be via the existing courtyard before extending to create a new 
access road for the dwelling between the two existing residential properties. The 
access will be constructed from compact stone chippings and permeable paving 
blocks. 

2.1.3 The proposed dwelling is two storey and would approximately measure 13 metres by 7 
metres, with a dual pitched roof standing to approximately 4.5 metres to the eaves and 
6.8 metres to the ridge. The proposal will be constructed from natural slate with 
limestone walls with timber casement windows. There will be a canopy to the front and 
rear of the property with openings to the north east, south west and south east 
elevations. 

2.1.4 The proposal includes a detached garage and car port. This will measure 
approximately 7 metres by 7 metres and will have a dual pitched roof which will stand 
to approximately 2.6 metres to the eaves and 4.8 metres to the ridge. It will be 
constructed from natural slate and limestone walls to be in keeping with the proposed 
dwelling. 

2.2 Site Description 

2.2.1 The site is part of a parcel of greenfield agricultural land located to the north of 
Cornerstone Cottage and to the north east of School Farm and School Farm Cottage in 
Great Strickland. 

2.2.2 In terms of planning constraints, the site is located within Flood Zone 1, within an Area 
of Special Advertisement Control and an area of Mineral Consultation. There is a Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) to the north west of the application site which is TPO 106-1. 
The nearest listed building is Taylor’s Farmhouse and adjoining barn which is Grade II 
located to the south of the application site. 

3. Consultees 

3.1 Statutory Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Cumbria CC - Local Highway 
Authority and Lead Local 
Flood Authority 

Responded on 12 December 2019: 

No objection. 

 The following are detailed responses as outlined above: 

3.1.1 Local Highways Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority: 

‘The private shared driveway/courtyard area where the residents will access the 
dwelling is already quite highly populated but to a good enough standard that it will be 
able to accommodate the intensification should permission be granted. The plans show 
that surface water soakaways will be installed for each dwelling and that there will be a 
refuse bin collection area on the site. I can confirm that the Highways Authority and 
Lead Local Flood Authority have no objections to this proposal.’ 

3.2 Discretionary Consultees 

Consultee Response 

United Utilities Responded on 3 December 2019 with no objection. 

Arboricultural Officer Responded on 12 December 2019 with no objection 
subject to conditions. 

Page  31



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Consultee Response 

Housing Officer Responded on 25 October 2019 stating: 

‘Provided the development site is considered to be 
inside the settlement of Great Strickland, I can 
confirm that there is no affordable housing 
requirement. Whether or not the proposal 
constitutes infill or rounding off is a planning matter 
that falls outside of my remit.’ 

Cumbria County Council as 
Minerals and Waste Planning 
Authority 

Responded on 15 October 2019 with no objection. 

 The following are detailed responses as outlined above: 

3.2.1 Arboricultural Officer: 

‘The revised application does not impact upon the protected tree, however, the 
applicant should still heed the advice in the Rowan Tree Report regarding protection of 
the RPA in order that the protected tree is not adversely affected at any time in the 
future. In respect of landscaping my previous comments regarding a hedgerow along 
the western boundary of the site still apply.’ 

3.2.2  Previous comments from the Arboricultural Officer of 22 November 2019: 

‘The tree report prepared by Rowan Tree Surveys is an accurate assessment of the 
trees and hedgerows. It includes a Tree Protection Plan (TPP) with suitable proposals 
for ensuring retained trees and hedgerows are not damaged and if consent is to be 
granted the report and TPP should be referenced as approved documents to be fully 
complied with. Protection measures will need to be installed prior to commencement of 
any development. My previous comments in respect of landscaping still apply.’ 

3.2.3 Previous comments from the Arboricutural Officer of 8 November 2019 in respect of 
landscaping: 

‘There is very limited information about landscaping and in my view the new northern 
boundary next to the paddock should be planted up with a hedgerow of similar species 
to the existing roadside hedgerow.’ 

4. Parish Council/Meeting Response 

Parish 
Council/Meeting 

Object Support No Response 
No View 

Expressed 

Great Strickland 
Parish Council 

x    

4.1  ‘The planning application has been amended from two to one local occupancy dwelling, 
but much of the information still refers to two dwellings. Following detailed discussion, it 
was agreed that some of the issues raised about the earlier application still apply: 

 The site is not infill, and is believed to not be rounding off. EDC planning had been 
asked for clarification of this, but have not responded. 

 Still confusion of materials to be used – limestone or sandstone. 

 The proposed development still leaves a ‘stranded’ paddock. 

Page  32



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 Neighbouring properties will be adversely affected by lack of privacy. 

 The site is very close to an existing stable, and the two different uses could cause 
conflict (development noises could upset the horses, stable smells could upset 
anyone living close by). 

 Still concerns with road safety issues and additional traffic joining the C3050 from 
Airygill Lane. 

Because of these concerns, the Parish Council recommends refusal of this 
application.’ 

5. Representations 

5.1 Letters of consultation were sent to nearby neighbours and a site notice was posted on 
29 November 2019. 

No of Neighbours Consulted 17 No of letters of support 0 

No of Representations Received 22 No of neutral representations 0 

No of objection letters 22   

5.2 Letters of objection raised the following material considerations to the application: 

 Access and Highways 

 Number of cars using the entrance. 

 Increased traffic should not be encouraged onto Airygill Lane and the junction 
from the main street onto Airygill Lane. 

 Entrance to the site from Taylor’s Farm is inappropriate and would cause 
considerable harm to the whole layout, safety and balance of the site. 

 The existing junction from Taylor’s Farm to Airygill Lane is dangerous. 

 Principle of development 

 The site cannot be considered to be ‘infill’ or ‘rounding off’, conflicting with 
Policies LS1 and HS2 of the Local Development Plan. 

 The proposed development is considered to be outside of the existing 
settlement conflicting with Policy LS1 of the Local Development Plan. 

 It is an encroachment into the open countryside. 

 The site is unsuitable for any housing as it is greenfield and land within the 
open countryside. 

 The proposal is backland development and outside the ribbon-development of 
the village. 

 The lack of evidence and justification for the proposal based on identifying 
local housing need. 

 The proposal does not provide a modest extension to a logical, defensible 
boundary and would create an incongruous boundary which would not be in 
keeping with its surroundings. 

 The plans show a dwelling and a car port/garage which increases the floor 
area beyond the 150 square metres. 

Page  33



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 Residential Amenity 

 The proposal by virtue of its proximity to School Farm and School Farm 
Cottage will cause an overbearing impact and overshadow these properties. 

 The proposal will cause overlooking issues for School Farm and School Farm 
Cottage. 

 The proposal will result in the loss of privacy and amenity to all the surrounding 
neighbouring properties. 

 The height of the dwelling and prominence against the sunken lane and impact 
on neighbouring properties. 

 Access and road being located immediately adjacent the front and back of 
School Farm Cottage. 

 The proposal would cause noise nuisance and disturbance. 

 The impact of the proposal upon the surrounding agricultural fields. 

 The proposed development would have an unacceptable impact on the 
residential amenity of School Farm and School Farm Cottage and other 
neighbouring properties which will cause adverse harm to their residential 
amenity, contrary to Policy DEV5. 

 Visual Amenity 

 The property will not be in keeping with The Old School, The Chapel, Taylors 
Farm and School Farm. 

 Impact on the character of the area 

 Airygill Lane displays an immediate appreciable rurality by reason of its mature 
hedges, narrowness, and lack of modern highways intervention. Development 
beyond the defensible boundary at Taylor’s Farm will cause significant harm to 
the open countryside and the character and setting of this area of Great 
Strickland. 

 The proposal will ruin this historic area of the village and impact upon the 
Airygill Lane as a sunken narrow lane which was the late-medieval way to 
Penrith. 

 Impact of the proposal upon the Grade II Listed Taylor’s Farmhouse and barn 
adjoining. 

 The proposal will cause significant damage to the balance between open 
space and the amenity of this historic area. 

 The proposed development would have an unacceptable impact on the 
character of the built environment conflicting with Chapter 12 of the NPPF and 
Policies DEV5 and ENV2 of the Local Development Plan. 

 Impact on the natural environment 

 New housing increases the level of disturbance to wildlife through noise, light 
and human activity in the countryside. 

 The impact of the proposal upon the special hedgerow and TPO tree (TPO 
106). 

Page  34



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 The proposal will cause considerable damage to the open countryside and 
surrounding area. 

 Impact of the proposal upon biodiversity and climate change. 

 Light pollution and impact on the countryside. 

 The field and lane should be respected and protected for future generations. 

 The proposed development would have an unacceptable landscape impact 
conflicting with Chapters 12 and 15 of the NPPF and Policies DEV5 and ENV2 
of the Local Development Plan. 

 Previous Planning Applications 

 Feedback from the Planning Department in relation to planning applications 
01/0246 and 01/0613 for the creation of an access from Airygill Lane stated it 
would cause significant harm to the appearance and character of the lane and 
its hedge. At the time, the Planners felt that the site was not part of the village 
but open countryside and any change to its appearance and character would 
be dealt with on that basis. 

5.3 Letters of objection raised the following non-material considerations: 

 Ongoing amendments to the application and historic planning applications at 
Taylor’s Farm by the same applicant. 

 This application would set a precedent for proposals of a similar nature behind the 
village street on both sides of the village which the Local Planning Authority would 
find difficult to refuse. 

 All neighbours are people who have lived in the village for many years and 
contribute to the community of Great Strickland and why would you allow a 
developer to ruin all the neighbours’ homes who strongly object to this proposal. 

 The impact of development on the welfare and health of the horses in the adjacent 
stables to the east of the application site. 

 Too much development has already taken place at the Taylor’s Farm site and in 
this area of the village. 

 The proposal would ruin villagers’ enjoyment of walking along Airygill Lane. 

 Impact on the children’s playing field. 

 Considerable development taking place at Hackthorpe, Morland and neighbouring 
villages. 

 The developer is not considering using a local contractor. 

 The applicant sending a letter through the door of local residents on the evening of 
the Parish Council meeting. 

 Impact of development on someone’s health and enjoyment of their family home. 

 The application site was put forward in 2008 under the Eden Local Development 
Framework Housing DPD as Site Number: LGST-2: Land at Taylors Farm, Great 
Strickland and was not included. 

5.3.1 It is important to outline that the above considerations, which are concerns of local 
residents, are not material planning considerations and therefore do not form part of 

Page  35



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

the consideration and assessment of this planning application by the Local Planning 
Authority and therefore, are afforded no weight in the determination of this application. 

6. Relevant Planning History 

Application No Description Outcome 

94/0345 Siting of caravan as amended by information 
received on 7 June 1994 

Full Approval – 
15/06/94 

99/0025 Proposed stable and store and land for horse 
grazing as amended by information received 
on 15 March 1999 

Full Approval – 
15/04/99 

01/0246 Field entrance with gate – agricultural 
entrance into field 

Full Refusal – 
17/05/01 

01/0613 Agricultural field entrance with gate into 1 
acre field as amended by revised plans dated 
14/09/01 

Full Refusal – 
18/10/01 

7. Policy Context 

7.1 Development Plan 

Eden Local Plan (2014-2032): 

 Policy LS1: Locational Strategy 

 Policy DEV1: General Approach to New Development 

 Policy DEV2: Water Management and Flood Risk 

 Policy DEV3: Transport, Accessibility and Rights of Way 

 Policy DEV5: Design of New Development 

 Policy HS2: Housing in the Smaller Villages and Hamlets 

 Policy ENV1: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment, 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy ENV2: Protection and Enhancement of Landscapes and Trees 

 Policy ENV10: The Historic Environment 

Supplementary Planning Documents:  

 Housing (2010) 

7.2 Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Chapter 2: Achieving sustainable development 

 Chapter 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

 Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed places 

 Chapter 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 Chapter 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

7.3 The policies and documents detailed above are the most relevant policies relating to 
the determination of this application. 

8. Planning Assessment 

8.1 Key/Main Planning Issues 

 Principle of development 

Page  36



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 Landscape and Visual Impacts 

 Residential Amenity 

 Access and Highways 

 Natural Environment 

 Built Environment 

 Other Matters 

8.2 Principle 

8.2.1 Firstly, it is important to establish that each planning application is determined on its 
own merits and on the basis of current planning policy. Officers are aware of the 
previous refusals of planning applications on the site. However, there has been a 
material change in planning policy since these applications were determined as the 
Council has adopted the Eden Local Plan 2014-32. Therefore, the principle of 
development on the site needs to be re-assessed and considered in light of current 
planning policy.  

8.2.2 Policy LS1 of the Eden Local Plan 2014-32 sets out the locational strategy for the Eden 
District. The site is located to the edge of the settlement of Great Strickland which is 
identified under Policy LS1 as a ‘Smaller Village and Hamlet’. Policy LS1 states: ‘All 
development must be of a high quality design and will be restricted to infill sites, which 
fill a modest gap between existing buildings within the settlement; rounding off, which 
provides a modest extension beyond the limit of the settlement to a logical, defensible 
boundary; and the reuse of traditional rural buildings and structures, subject to the 
criteria set out in Policy RUR3. Villages have been identified on the basis that they 
contain a coherent and close knit group of ten or more dwellings, which are well related 
and in close proximity to each other, or clustered around a central element or feature, 
as opposed to areas of scattered and poorly related development.’ 

8.2.3 In addition to this, Policy HS2 relates to housing in Smaller Villages and Hamlets and 
states: ‘permission will be given for housing of an appropriate scale, which reflects the 
built form of adjoining and neighbouring development to the site and the service 
function of the settlement, (including sub-division of existing housing) where it meets all 
of the following criteria: 

 Where the development is restricted to infilling and rounding off of the current 
village settlement pattern, in accordance with Policy LS1. 

 The resultant dwelling does not contain more than 150m2 gross internal floorspace. 

 In the case of greenfield sites a condition or legal agreement restricting occupancy 
to only those meeting local connection criteria, defined in Appendix 6, will be 
applied. 

 Local occupancy restrictions will not be applied where suitable housing comes forward 
on previously developed land. This is in recognition of the higher costs involved in 
developing such sites and the opportunities they may bring to help improve the 
character and appearance of the villages and to support local services.’ 

8.2.4 In considering the above, the application site is not considered to meet the definition of 
‘rounding off’ as required by Policy LS1. The application site is an open, flat parcel of 
agricultural land and as such, there are no logical, defensible boundaries to the north 
and north west. Therefore, the proposal cannot be considered as rounding off and 
conflicts with Policy LS1 in this regard. 

Page  37



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.2.5 However, it is officers’ opinion that whilst finely balanced, the application site can be 
considered to be infill under Policy LS1. Policy LS1 states an infill to be a ‘modest gap 
between existing buildings’. The site is bounded on three sides by existing buildings. 
To the immediate east of the site is an existing stable block building which is located 
close to the boundary of the application site. To the west of the application site, there is 
the residential property and building within the curtilage of School Farm. To the south 
of the application site is the residential property Cornerstone Cottage.  There is no 
requirement for the site to be entirely enclosed by existing buildings, nor for the existing 
buildings to be residential and there is no requirement for infill development to be in a 
linear form, with existing examples of backland development already in existence within 
Great Strickland. In considering this, on balance, it is considered that the application 
site fulfils the infill requirement of Policy LS1; the site is located between existing 
buildings, that of the stable building to the east and the building at School Farm to the 
west. Also, the site is considered to be modest in this case as the distance between the 
building at School Farm and the stable building is approximately 37 metres between 
the two buildings. In considering this, on balance the site can be considered to be 
modest. 

8.2.6 In relation to Policy HS2, there is a requirement that the resultant dwelling does not 
contain more than 150m2 gross internal floorspace. As shown on the submitted plans, 
the resultant dwelling will have a gross internal floorspace within the 150m2 
requirement. Concerns have been raised that the detached garage takes the gross 
internal floorspace over the 150m2 requirement. The detached garage is not included in 
the gross internal floorspace calculation for the site, as is the case with all such 
planning applications. Overall, the application complies with the gross internal floor 
space requirement of Policy HS2. 

8.2.7 The application site is a parcel of greenfield land and as such, Policy HS2 requires a 
local occupancy restriction to be applied to any grant of planning consent. This would 
be secured through the imposition of a condition which is included in the Officer’s 
recommendation to Planning Committee.  Subject to a local occupancy condition the 
application will comply with the local connection requirements of Policy HS2. 

8.2.8 Overall, on balance, given the above, the principle of the proposed development is 
considered to be acceptable in planning terms and would accord with Policy LS1 and 
Policy HS2 of the Eden Local Plan 2014-32. 

8.3 Landscape and Visual Impacts 

8.3.1 Policy DEV5 of the Eden Local Plan sets out that the Council will support high quality 
design which reflects local distinctiveness. 

8.3.2 The proposal would be constructed from materials to be in-keeping with the site and 
the surrounding area, utilising natural slate for the roof and limestone for the walls, with 
timber casement windows. The dwelling would be of a similar design, scale and size to 
those properties to the south of the application site, and throughout the settlement. It is 
considered that the proposal reflects the existing street scene and local built 
environment through its design, use of materials and its size and scale. 

8.3.3 In relation to the detached garage and car port, whilst it can be considered to be of a 
larger size and scale, its design and positioning respects the existing development in 
the near vicinity, being constructed of the same materials as the proposed dwelling. On 
balance, the car port and garage does are not considered to cause harm to the visual 
amenity of the site or the surrounding area. 

Page  38



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.3.4 Concerns have been raised in relation to the impact of the proposal upon the historic 
character of Great Strickland and its impact upon the character of the natural 
environment. 

8.3.5 It is appreciated that there is a difference in levels between Airygill Lane to the west 
and the application site which is topographically higher. From Airygill Lane to the north 
west, the application site is visible from this vantage point. Fundamentally, this 
application will change the appearance of this parcel of land. However, from this 
vantage point, the application site will be seen within the backdrop of the existing 
residential properties in Great Strickland and an existing hedgerow to the north west of 
the application site. Also, a condition is attached to this recommendation which 
requires the details of a native hedgerow to be planted along the north west boundary 
of the application site to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. This 
will offer further mitigation by means of softening the visual impact of the development. 
In considering this, although a residential property will be somewhat visible over the 
existing and proposed hedgerows, it will appear in the context of the built environment 
of Great Strickland and neighbouring properties. From the south, the application site 
will be seen within the context of the courtyard development. It is considered that 
although there will be an impact upon the character of the settlement and natural 
environment, it is not considered to be significantly harmful or warrant the refusal of this 
planning application. 

8.3.6 Therefore, overall, the landscape and visual impacts resulting from the development 
would be acceptable and therefore, the proposal is considered to comply with Policy 
DEV5 of the Eden Local Plan 2014-32. 

8.4 Residential Amenity 

8.4.1 Policy DEV5 of the Eden Local Plan sets out the requirement to protect the amenity of 
the existing residents and business occupiers and proposals should provide an 
acceptable amenity for future occupiers. 

8.4.2 A wide range of neighbouring residents have expressed concerns about the impact of 
the proposal upon their residential amenity. To the south of the application site is 
Cornerstone Cottage, to the south east of the site is School Farm and School Farm 
Cottage, to the wider west of the application site is Chapel House where Airygill Lane is 
located between this neighbouring property and the application site and there are no 
residential properties to the north of the application site. 

8.4.3  The Housing SPD 2010 sets out separation distances and states that ‘principal 
windows on a new or extended property should not be less than 21 metres from any 
directly facing windows in another property, in order to ensure reasonable privacy is 
provided for both the new house or extended house and neighbours. A distance of 13 
metres should be maintained from the main face of a dwelling to a blank gable wall.’ 

8.4.4 In relation to Chapel House, Airygill Lane is located directly between the application 
site and this dwelling, as well as TPO106 and an existing hedgerow being located to 
the north west of the application site. The proposed dwelling will be located 
approximately 30 metres away from the footprint of Chapel House. As such, the 
proposal is not considered to cause any impacts in relation to overlooking, 
overshadowing or an overbearing impact and does not cause harm to the residential 
amenity of Chapel House. 

8.4.5 To the south and south west of the application site is Cornerstone Cottage. The 
submitted plans for the application outline there will be a separation distance of 

Page  39



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

approximately 26 metres between the rear elevation of Cornerstone Cottage and the 
gable of the proposed dwelling. The detached garage and car port will be located in 
between the proposed dwelling and Cornerstone Cottage. There is one first floor 
window proposed in the south east elevation which faces towards Cornerstone Cottage 
which serves a bedroom. However, there is a separation distance of approximately 26 
metres and the intervening garage and car port between the properties, neither of 
which are habitable buildings. Therefore, given that the separation distances comply 
with the Housing SPD requirements and the intervening siting of the single storey 
detached garage and car port, the proposal is not considered to cause any issues in 
relation to overlooking, an overbearing impact or overshadowing to Cornerstone 
Cottage. 

8.4.6 To the south east of the application site is School Farm and School Farm Cottage. 
Concerns have also been raised about the impact of the proposal upon the residential 
properties amenity of these properties. In relation to concerns about overlooking, the 
south west elevation proposes three first floor windows and a three ground floor 
windows of varying sizes. These windows will have an outlook over the proposed 
access drive for the dwelling and then towards the rear amenity area of School Farm 
and School Farm Cottage. The ground floor windows will not cause any issues in 
relation to overlooking as there is existing boundary treatment along the boundary of 
School Farm and School Farm Cottage. In terms of the first floor windows, one will 
service the bathroom, one will service the en-suite bathroom and the other will be 
located over the staircase. Each of these are non-habitable areas of the proposed 
dwelling. As such, there will be no adverse impacts or issues likely to arise in relation to 
overlooking. The windows to the north east elevation will have an outlook over the 
stable building and consequent agricultural fields, causing no issues in terms of 
overlooking. 

8.4.7 In relation to the consideration of an overbearing impact and overshadowing upon 
School Farm and School Farm Cottage, the proposed dwelling is located an acceptable 
separation distance from these residential properties to ensure there are no issues in 
this regard. There will be an approximate separation distance of 22 metres between the 
footprint of the proposed dwelling and the neighbouring dwelling as shown on the 
submitted site plan. There will also be an approximate separation distance between the 
southern corner of the gable end of the proposed dwelling and the most northern 
corner of these neighbouring properties of approximately 14 metres which complies 
with the Housing Supplementary Housing Document (SPD). 

8.4.8 Concerns have been raised about the impact of the access track upon the residential 
amenity of neighbouring properties, especially School Farm and School Farm Cottage. 
In considering this, the development would be accessed via the existing courtyard 
which provides vehicle access to a number of residential properties, allowing vehicles 
to be in the immediate vicinity of these properties. The addition of an access track to 
serve one additional property is not considered to be such a significant intensification to 
the existing arrangement to warrant concerns about the residential amenity of School 
Farm and School Farm Cottage. 

8.4.9 Overall, in considering the above, the proposal would not result in any adverse or 
harmful impacts upon neighbouring amenity and as such accords with Policy DEV5 of 
the Eden Local Plan 2014-32 in relation to the residential amenity. 

Page  40



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.5 Infrastructure 

8.5.1 Concerns have been raised about the suitability of the access for the application and 
the impact of the proposal upon traffic. Cumbria County Council as Local Highways 
Authority has raised no objections to the proposal and has not recommended any 
conditions. 

8.5.2 Therefore, given the Local Highways Authority response, the access and parking 
arrangements are acceptable and comply with Policy DEV3 of the Eden Local Plan 
2014-32. 

8.6 Natural Environment 

8.6.1 To the north west of the application site is TPO 106 and an existing hedgerow. A Tree 
Survey has been submitted as part of the original application and the Council’s 
Arboricultural Officer has been consulted. 

8.6.2 The Council’s Arboricultural Officer states that the proposal does not impact upon the 
protected tree (TPO106), although the applicant should heed the advice of the 
submitted Tree Survey which has been submitted. The TPO 106 is located outside of 
the red line of the application site and as such, the comments of the Arboricultural 
Officer will be included as an informative for the applicant. 

8.6.3 However, the Arboricultural Officer has requested additional landscaping to the north 
west boundary of the application site. As such, this will be dealt with as a planning 
condition in the Officer’s recommendation which will require the submission of the 
proposed landscaping to this boundary for approval prior to the commencement of 
development. 

8.6.4 Concerns have been raised about the impact of the development on biodiversity and 
wildlife on the site. The parcel of land is agricultural land of low-ecological value. The 
proposal does not involve the removal of any existing hedgerows or planting or trees. 
As outlined above, the Arboricultural Officer has requested additional planting to the 
north west boundary of the site and as such this will be included as a condition. This 
will increase potential for species on the site through the planting of an additional native 
hedgerow. 

8.6.5 Overall, it is considered that the application does not cause significant harm to the 
natural environment and is in accordance with Policy ENV1 and Policy ENV2 of the 
Eden Local Plan 2014-32. 

8.7 Built Environment 

8.7.1 The site is not located in a Conservation Area and the nearest listed building is Grade II 
Taylor’s Farmhouse and adjoining barn located approximately 65 metres to the south 
of the application site. There are a number of residential properties surrounding this 
Listed Building as well as intervening residential properties to the north, located 
between the heritage asset and the application site. It is considered that the proposal 
will not cause any harm to the setting, character or appearance of the listed buildings, 
due to the residential nature of the development, the separation distances that would 
exist and the presence of intervening buildings which limits direct views. 

8.7.2 Overall, the proposal is considered to be acceptable under Policy ENV10 of the Eden 
Local Plan 2014-32. 

Page  41



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.8 Other Matters 

8.8.1 Concerns have been raised by local residents on the impact of the proposal upon the 
health and welfare of the horses in the adjacent agricultural field to the east of the 
application site. However, as previously highlighted, this is not a material consideration 
which needs to be considered as part of the determination of this application. 

8.8.2 Also, the applicant has submitted many other planning applications over the years for 
the surrounding site which is commonly referred to as ‘Taylor’s Farm’ by local 
residents. Concerns have been raised about the number of amendments by the 
applicant made to these applications over the years and that it is possible this would 
happen to this application if an approval was granted. However, the planning system 
allows for amendments and subsequent planning applications to be made and an 
applicant is within their rights to apply for planning permission. Therefore, the number 
of applications submitted to the Local Planning Authority by the same applicant over 
the years for neighbouring development is not a material planning consideration which 
is pertinent to the determination of this planning application. 

8.8.3 Concerns have also been raised about the possible precedent the approval of this 
application would make and that the Local Planning Authority would be unable to 
refuse any other applications of a similar nature. In response to this, the NPPF 2019 
Paragraph 47 states that ‘Planning law requires that applications for planning 
permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.’ As such, each application is assessed and 
determined on a case by case basis on the merits, in accordance with Paragraph 47 of 
NPPF. It would be up to the Local Planning Authority to make a site specific 
assessment and determine any possible future planning applications in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Therefore, the concern about the creation of a precedent is not relevant, as each 
application is determined on the merits. 

9. New Homes Bonus 

9.1 The prospect of receiving a Bonus is, in principle, capable of being taken into account 
as a ‘material consideration’ in determining a planning application. Whether potential 
Bonus payments are in fact a material consideration in relation to a particular 
application will depend on whether those payments would be used in a way which is 
connected to the application and to the use and development of land. For example, 
potential Bonus payments could be a material consideration if they were to be used to 
mitigate impacts resulting from development. But if the use to which the payments are 
to be put is unclear or is for purposes unrelated to the development concerned a 
decision maker would not be entitled to take them into account when making a decision 
on a planning application. In this particular case, there are no plans to use the New 
Homes Bonus arising from this application in connection with this development. 

10. Implications 

10.1 Legal Implications 

10.1.1 The following matters have been considered but no issues are judged to arise. Each 
application is determined on the merits. 

10.2 Equality and Diversity 

10.2.1 The Council must have regard to the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment, and the promotion of equality under the Equality Act 2010. 

Page  42



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

10.3 Environment 

10.3.1 The Council must have due regard to conserving bio-diversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

10.4 Crime and Disorder 

10.4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must have regard to the need to 
reduce crime and disorder in exercising any of its functions. 

10.5 Children 

10.5.1 Under the Children Act 2004, the Council has a duty to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children in the exercise of any of its functions. 

10.6 Human Rights 

10.6.1 In determining applications, the Council must ensure that all parties get a fair hearing 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 6 under the European Convention on 
Human Rights and Protection of Fundamental Freedoms 1950, as now embodied in 
UK law in the Human Rights Act 1998. 

11. Conclusion 

11.1 It is considered that the proposal accords with the Development Plan for the following 
reasons which are not outweighed by material considerations: 

11.2 Overall, on balance, the proposal is considered to fulfil the requirements of ‘infill’ 
development under Policy LS1 and Policy HS2 of the Eden Local Plan and as such is 
acceptable in principle. The proposal is not considered to cause harm to the visual or 
landscape amenity of the site or the surrounding area with the design and use of 
materials commensurate of the surrounding area. The proposal is not considered to 
cause harm to the residential amenity of the site or the surrounding area. Therefore, 
the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DEV5 and Policy ENV1 and Policy 
ENV2. The proposal will not cause harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed building to 
the south of the site and as such, it is considered to comply with Policy ENV10 of the 
Eden Local Plan. 

11.3 The proposal is considered to comply with Policy LS1, Policy HS2, Policy DEV5, Policy 
ENV1, Policy ENV2 and Policy ENV10 of the Eden Local Plan 2014-32. As such, the 
application is acceptable in planning terms and is accordingly recommended for 
approval, according to the conditions set out herein. 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

 
 

Background Papers: Planning File 19/0719 

 

Checked by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer  

Page  43



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Date of Committee: 13 February 2020 

Planning Application No: 19/0433 Date Received: 19 June 2019 

OS Grid Ref: NY 355453, 
526282 

Expiry Date: 14 February 2020 

Parish: Hartley Ward: Kirkby Stephen 

Application Type: Full 

Proposal: Change of use of agricultural building to Class B8 (storage or 
distribution) and addition of new access 

Location: Cattle Shed, Hartley Fold, Hartley 

Applicant: The John Strutt Conservation Fund 

Agent: Mr R deRobeck 

Case Officer: Mr N Unwin 

Reason for Referral: Officer recommendation is contrary to that of the Parish 
Council. 

 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and Database 
Rights (2016) 

Grid Ref: NY  

 

Page  44



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and Database 
Rights (2016) 

Grid Ref: NY  

 

Page  45



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

1. Recommendation 

It is recommended that planning permission be Approved subject to the following 
additional conditions: 

Time Limit for Commencement 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
documents and drawings hereby approved: 

i. Application Form, dated 18 June 2019; 

ii. Road Safety Audit, dated 4 December 2019; 

iii. Technical Note, dated 18 December 2019; 

iv. Access and Internals Fig 1, dated 17 December 2019; 

v. Access and Internals Fig 2, dated 17 December 2019; 

vi. Access and Internals Fig 3, dated 17 December 2019; 

vii. HGV Crossover Revised, dated September 2019; 

viii. Proposed Elevations Revised, September 2019; 

ix. Proposed Floor Plan, dated December 2018; 

x. Location Plan, February 2019; 

xi. Flood Risk Assessment; dated 3 June 2019; 

xii. Proposed Yard and Drainage Plan, dated June 2019; 

xiii. Arboricultural Impact Assessment, dated 12 December 2019; 

xiv. Email specifying operational hours and vehicle movements, dated 7 August 
2019. 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to avoid any ambiguity as to 
what constitutes the permission. 

Prior to commencement: 

3. Prior to the commencement of development a scheme of hard and soft 
landscaping shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented so that planting is carried 
out in the first planting season following approval. All planted materials shall be 
maintained for five years and any trees or plants removed, dying, being damaged 
or becoming diseased within that period shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species to those originally required to be 
planted. 

 Reason: To protect the amenity of the area and to offset the loss of the three ash 

Page  46



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

trees. 

Ongoing conditions: 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or 
object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or 
other plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay 
which obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed 
before general development of the site commences so that construction traffic is 
safeguarded. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

5. Any existing highway fence/wall boundary shall be reduced to a height not 
exceeding 1.05m above the carriageway level of the adjacent highway in 
accordance with details submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority and shall not be raised to a height exceeding 1.05m thereafter. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

6. The whole of the access area bounded by the carriageway edge, entrance gates 
and the splays shall be constructed and drained to the specification of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

7. All oils and other materials shall be stored within the building hereby approved as 
detailed on the plan, ‘Proposed Floor Plan, dated December 2018’. There shall 
be no external storage of any materials associated with the development hereby 
approved, within the red line boundary of the hereby approved document 
‘Location Plan, February 2019’. 

 Reason: In the interest of amenity. 

8. No waste materials other than waste cooking oils shall be stored on site. 

 Reason: In the interest of residential amenity. 

9. No processing of waste oil shall take place on site. 

 Reason: In the interest of residential amenity. 

10. The operational hours shall be restricted to 9:00am – 5:00pm Monday - Friday. 

 Reason: In the interest of residential amenity. 

11. HGV and Van movements to and from the site shall be restricted to 10 HGV 
movements per week and 8 van movements per day. 

 Reason: In the interest of highway safety and residential amenity. 

12. Excluding times of vehicles entering and exiting the building, the roller shutters 
shall remain closed at all times. 

 Reason: In the interest of residential amenity. 

2. Proposal and Site Description 

2.1 Proposal 

Page  47



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2.1.1 The proposal is for full planning permission for the change of use of an agricultural 
building to Class B8 (storage or distribution) and formation of new access. 

2.1.2 The proposal would involve an existing business relocating to the proposed site. The 
existing business is seeking a larger premises to facilitate their storage and distribution 
business of cooking oil. The business would import cooking oil to the proposed site via 
Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs). Vans will then be used to transport this cooking oil to 
local businesses and remove the used cooking oil stored in sealed drums returning it to 
the proposed site which will then be removed from site via HGVs. The development 
would not involve any recycling or processing of any material on the site, and as such 
this is not a waste operation. 

2.1.3 The proposal would involve a new access to the site to the C3079 103 approximately 
100 metres to the North of the existing cattle shed. The entrance to the proposed 
access will be concrete, as will the Western corner as the access connects to the 
existing access to the West in accordance with the recommendations of the submitted 
Road Safety Audit. The remainder of the track will be constructed of a permeable 
CELLPAVE ecogrid system permitting grass to grow through the surface. The 
proposed access track will be approximately 5.5 metres in width adjoining existing hard 
standing and agricultural buildings to the South. The proposed access will require the 
removal of three ash trees adjacent to the proposed access entrance. A crossover is 
additionally proposed for the HGV’s to gain access from the new entrance. The 
crossover involves the C3079 102 connecting the site to Kirkby Stephen to the West. 

2.1.4 A single vehicle movement is defined as a vehicle entering or exiting the site, therefore 
a single HGV entering and leaving the site is defined as two vehicle movements. The 
proposed HGV movements will be 10 per week which will comprise three HGV’s 
delivering new cooking oil and two HGV’s removing the used cooking oil from the site 
to be recycled. The proposed van movements will be eight per day which will comprise 
four vans delivering new cooking oil to local businesses and returning the used cooking 
oil to the site. 

2.1.5 The proposal additionally involves the renovation of the existing cattle shed with the 
existing timber panelled walls to be stained green to match a similar conversion of an 
agricultural building to B8 use (approval 00/0930) approximately 20 metres North of the 
proposed site. The roof is to be dove grey coated profiled steel with roof lights. There 
are to be four large steel roller shutters painted green to the warehouse and a single 
door to reception in the front elevation. 

2.2 Site Description 

2.2.1 The proposed site is located within the South-Western extent of Hartley Fold, which 
forms the Northern extent of the settlement of Hartley. Hartley Fold is accessed via the 
C3079 102 running through the centre of the settlement. The C3079 102 connects to 
Kirkby Stephen (access not permitted for HGVs) approximately 500 metres to the West 
and the C3079 103 road connecting to Hartley to the South and the A685 
approximately 1.6km to the North. 

2.2.2 Hartley Fold is comprised of a number of residential and agricultural buildings, many of 
these agricultural buildings have been converted to commercial uses. These uses 
include storage and light industry (99/0644), storage and distribution (00/0930), 
workshops (92/0868), and offices and art studio (88/0400). 

2.2.3 The proposed site is currently comprised of a large cattle shed with timber boarding 
walls, large openings in the front (West) elevation and a corrugated metal roof. There is 

Page  48



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

a large area of concrete hard standing to the South and West adjoining the C3079 102 
road to the North. This area of hard standing was part of approval 99/0644 for storage 
and light industry. 

3. Consultees 

3.1 Statutory Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Cumbria County Council - 
Highway and LLF Authority 

No objection subject to conditions. 

3.2 Discretionary Consultees 

Consultee Response  

Cumbria County Council - 
Minerals and Waste 

No objection subject to conditions. 

Environmental Health No objection subject to conditions. 

Environment Agency No objection. 

Arboriculturist No objection subject to conditions. 

4. Parish Council 

 Please Tick as Appropriate 

Parish Council 
Support Object No Response 

No View 
Expressed 

Hartley Parish 
Council 

 
 

  

4.1 The Parish Council response is as follows: 

Hartley Parish Council – Object 

The primary objections relate to: 

 The nature of the business and the activity to be carried out at the fold. 

 The proposed new access, necessitated by the use of agricultural lorries. 

 The traffic implications. 

5. Representations 

5.1 Letters of consultation were sent to nearby neighbours and a site notice was posted on 
the 16 July 2019. 

No of Neighbours Consulted 2 No of letters of support 0 

No of Representations Received 20 No of neutral representations 0 

No of objection letters 20   

5.2 The following material planning objections were raised by the public: 

 Impact on Highway safety 

 Impact on the landscape 

 Impact on the character of the area 

 Impact on amenity 

Page  49



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 Impact on biodiversity/the environment 

 Impact on the historic environment 

6. Relevant Planning History 

Application No Description Outcome 

88/0400 Conversion of byre into art studio and 
office. 

Approved - 19 May 
1988. 

92/0868 Workshops and toilet block. Approved – 21 
January 1993. 

95/0031 Storage and processing of timber. Refused – 16 March 
1995. 

99/0644 Change of use to storage and light 
industry. 

Approved – 21 
October 1999. 

00/0930 Change of use of agricultural building to 
B8 (storage and distribution). 

Approved – 15 June 
2001. 

7. Policy Context 

7.1 Development Plan 

Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 

 LS1 “Locational Strategy” 

 DEV1 “General Approach to New Development” 

 DEV3 “Transport, Accessibility and Rights of Way” 

 DEV5 “Design of New Development” 

 EC3 “Employment Development in Existing Settlements” 

 ENV1 “Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment, Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity” 

 ENV2 “Protection and Enhancement of Landscapes and Trees” 

7.2 Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Chapter 2 Achieving sustainable development 
 Chapter 6 Building a strong, competitive economy 

 Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places 

 Chapter 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

7.3 The policies detailed above are the most relevant policies relating to this application. 

8. Planning Assessment 

8.1 Key/Main Planning Issues 

 Principle 

 Amenity Impact 

 Highways impact 

Page  50



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.2 Principle 

8.2.1 Policy EC3 of the Local Development Plan states that: 

“Employment development within and adjacent to existing settlements, including 
proposals outside of the employment allocations listed in the Town Plans, will be 
permitted where all of the following criteria can be met: 

 Development is of a scale, type and design sympathetic to the location within 
which it is proposed. 

 Development would not have an unacceptable impact on highways or other forms 
of infrastructure. 

 Development would not cause harm to local amenity, landscape, ecology, historic 
environment or other environmental and cultural heritage considerations. 

 The development is capable of achieving appropriate standards of access, 
servicing, parking and amenity space. 

Where development does not meet all of the above criteria, development may still be 
acceptable when assessed against the wider employment/economic benefits of the 
scheme”. 

8.2.2 The proposal utilises the existing cattle shed with minimal changes proposed to its 
external appearance. The proposal will improve the condition of the existing structure 
giving it a similar appearance to that of the commercial building approximately 20 
metres to the North of the site which gained approval for storage and distribution use 
under approval 00/0930, helping the proposal to better harmonise visually with its 
surroundings. 

8.2.3 The proposal has a large area of existing hard standing which will permit the turning of 
HGVs and parking of vans and staff vehicles safely off the public highway. The 
proposed development would introduce a new access adjacent to the North of Hartley 
Fold permitting HGV access. The proposal is supported by an in-depth road safety 
audit and traffic surveys which have been reviewed by the Highways Authority who 
raised no objection to the proposal. Furthermore the proposal would involve eight HGV 
movements per week and eight van movements per day which is considered to result 
in a negligible impact on the existing highway. 

8.2.4 A mixture of commercial, agricultural and residential uses comprise Hartley Fold, 
therefore it is important to consider any potential amenity impact. All cooking oil will be 
stored in sealed drums with no processing to take place on site. Environmental Health 
were consulted on the proposal and raised no objections. The proposed HGV 
movements will be 10 per week. The proposed van movements will be eight per day. 
The operational hours of the proposed development are 9am to 5pm Monday to Friday. 
Based on the minimal vehicle movements, lack of any processing at the site and 9-5 
operational hours, the proposed development is not considered to harm local amenity. 

8.2.5 The proposed new access would require the removal of three ash trees and a 390sqm 
section of agricultural grass land to be covered by an ecogrid track. The use of an 
ecogrid track reduces the loss of the agricultural grass land (with a fairly low 
biodiversity) and the Arboriculturist raised no objections to the removal of the ash trees 
but recommends a condition for landscaping be attached to ensure additional planting 
to offset this loss as mitigation. 

Page  51



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.2.6 Based on the above the proposed development is considered to comply with Policy 
EC3 of the Local Development Plan. 

8.2.7 Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that: 

“Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for 
development”. 

8.2.8 Paragraph 83 of the NPPF states that: 

“Planning policies and decisions should enable the sustainable growth and expansion 
of all types of business in rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and 
well-designed new buildings”. 

8.2.9 Hartley Fold has a variety of commercial uses including storage and distribution 
(00/0930), meaning that the proposal would represent a complementary and 
appropriate land use for the locality and would not appear as an incongruous 
development. The hard standing section of the proposed site was previously approved 
for storage and light industry under approval 99/0644. 

8.2.10 Given the existing use of part of the proposed site, surrounding uses, economic 
benefits to the rural economy and compliance with Policy EC3 of the Local 
Development Plan, the principle of the proposed development is considered 
acceptable. 

8.3 Amenity Impact 

8.3.1 Policy DEV5 of the Local Development Plan requires new development to “Protect the 
amenity of existing residents and business occupiers and provide an acceptable 
amenity for future occupiers”. 

8.3.2 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure “a high 
standard of amenity for existing and future users”. 

8.3.3 A mixture of commercial, agricultural and residential uses comprise Hartley Fold, 
therefore it is important to consider any potential amenity impact on the residential 
dwellings. The closest dwelling to the proposed development is The Both 
approximately 12 metres to the East. 

8.3.4 All cooking oil will be stored in sealed drums with no processing to take place on site. 
Environmental Health were consulted on the proposal and raised no objections. The 
proposed HGV movements will be eight per week with eight van movements per day. 
The operational hours of the proposed development are 9am to 5pm Monday to Friday. 

8.3.5 The proposal would replace a cattle shed. Given the nature of the proposed 
development purely being storage and distribution with no processing on the site, it is 
considered to produce substantially less noise than if the shed was used for the 
storage of cattle. Therefore with respect to noise impact, the proposal is considered to 
be an improvement to the existing and lawful agricultural use of the building. 

8.3.6 The proposal is considered to result in minimal vehicle movements, lack of any 
processing at the site and 9-5 operational hours Monday to Friday. The use of the shed 
is currently for the housing of cattle which are likely to produce a higher level of noise 
compared to the proposed development. The proposal is therefore considered to have 
a negligible impact on local amenity. 

Page  52



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.4 Highways Impact 

8.4.1 Policy DEV3 of the Local Development Plan states that: 

“Development will be refused if it will result in a severe impact in terms of road safety 
and increased traffic congestion”. 

8.4.2 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that: 

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on 
the road network would be severe”. 

8.4.3 Both the Parish Council and residents raised concerns over the proposal’s impact on 
highway safety, particularly in relation to the proposed crossover. 

8.4.4 The proposed development involves the construction of a new access adjoining the 
Northern extent of Hartley Fold. Current access to Hartley fold is to the West via the 
C3079 102 road which is unsuitable for HGVs. The access to the East where the 
C3079 102 road meets the C3079 103 is flanked by two storey traditional barns which 
impair visibility and access. The new access has drastically improved visibility 
compared to the Eastern access. 

8.4.5 Traffic and speed surveys were conducted at the proposed crossover and where the 
proposed new access joins the C3079 103 road. These surveys were conducted to the 
satisfaction of the Highways Authority. The average number of cars passing the 
proposed crossover is 311 per day giving an average of 13 per hour. The average 
speed of these cars was 22.2 mph. 

8.4.6 The proposal will result in ten HGV movements per week and eight van movements 
per day (a recommended condition would ensure these levels are not exceeded). 
These vehicle movements are considered to be relatively minor and similar to that of 
an agricultural use. Therefore the proposal is not considered to represent an 
intensification of the lawful and unrestricted current use of the building. 

8.4.7 In conclusion a full traffic survey and road safety audit were submitted in support of the 
application. The proposed entrance onto the C3079 103 road is considered to be a 
vast improvement to the existing access via the C3079 102 road. The proposed vehicle 
movements are considered minimal and similar to that of an agricultural use. The 
speed and traffic surveys show a low number of vehicles passing the proposed 
crossover (average 13 per hour) at relatively low speeds (average 22.2 mph). The 
Highways Authority have reviewed the application and have no objections. 

8.4.8 The NPPF is clear in that proposals can only be refused on Highways grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety. The above information 
categorically proves that the proposal’s impacts on the highway would be negligible 
and would therefore comply with Policy DEV3 of the Local Development Plan and 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF. 

9. Implications 

9.1 Legal Implications 

9.1.1 The following matters have been considered but no issues are judged to arise. Each 
planning application is considered on the merits. 

Page  53



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

9.2 Equality and Diversity 

9.2.1 The Council must have regard to the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment, and the promotion of equality under the Equality Act 2010. 

9.3 Environment 

9.3.1 The Council must have due regard to conserving bio-diversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

9.4 Crime and Disorder 

9.4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must have regard to the need to 
reduce crime and disorder in exercising any of its functions. 

9.5 Human Rights 

9.5.1 In determining applications, the Council must ensure that all parties get a fair hearing 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 6 under the European Convention on 
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 1950, as now embodied in UK law in the 
Human Rights Act 1998. 

10. Conclusion 

10.1 The proposed development would facilitate the growth and expansion of an existing 
rural business which is given significant weight by Paragraph 80 of the NPPF. The 
proposal is considered to comply with Policy EC3 of the Local Development Plan 
governing employment developments within existing settlements. 

10.2 Part of the proposed site is already designated for light industry and storage and 
distribution (approval 99/0644) with other storage and distribution (approval 00/0930) 
and commercial uses present throughout Hartley Fold, which the proposed 
development would be in-keeping with and complement. 

10.3 The proposal will result in minimal physical changes to the proposed site. The minor 
landscape and character impact of a new access adjacent to the Northern extent of 
Hartley Fold is considered to be mitigated through its positioning adjacent to the 
existing farm complex, use of stone wall adjacent to the road and an ecogrid track. 
Further landscape impact mitigation will be achieved through a landscaping scheme 
secured through condition. The proposal would renovate the existing cattle shed which 
is considered to improve its current appearance. 

10.4 The proposed vehicle movements are minimal and similar to an agricultural use with 
eight HGV movements per week and eight van movements per day (three 40 foot 
HGVs and two 30 foot HGVs per week visiting the site and four vans per day visiting 
the site). The vehicle movements are therefore considered in-keeping with the existing 
character of the area. The proposed operational hours are 9am – 5pm. The Highways 
Authority raised no objections to the application. 

10.5 The economic benefits of the proposal given significant weight by Paragraph 80 of the 
NPPF and its compliance with Policy EC3 of the Local Development Plan, are 
considered to outweigh the fairly minimal increase in traffic movement and negligible 
amenity impact on neighbouring residents. 

10.6 For the above reasons, the application is considered acceptable in planning terms and 
is recommended to be approved. 

Page  54



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

 
 

Background Papers: Planning Files 19/0433 

 

Checked by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer  

Page  55



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Date of Committee: 13 February 2020 

Planning Application No: 19/0759 Date Received: 14 November 2019 

OS Grid Ref: NY 371946, 
546334 

Expiry Date: 10 January 2020 
(Time ext agreed to 

14 February 2020) 

 Parish: Alston Moor CP Ward: Alston Moor 

Application Type: Householder 

Proposal: Installation of conservation velux roof lights, French doors, 
steps, renew guard/handrail to existing roof terrace, alter 
hipped roof to gable end and install triangular picture window. 

Location: Osborne House, Front Street, Alston 

Applicant: Mrs G Williams 

Agent: None 

Case Officer: Caroline Brier 

Reason for Referral: The recommendation is contrary to the view expressed by the 
Parish Council 

 

Page  56



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

Page  57



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

1. Recommendation 

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 

Time Limit for Commencement 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
drawings hereby approved: 

 i) Application Form received 21 October 2019 

 ii) Site Location Plan received 14 November 2019 

 iii) Proposed Plans and Elevations (Dwg No 2) received 21 October 2019 

 iv) The Conservation Roof light (CR_CRSS_LS_D) received 13 November 
2019 

 v) Heritage Statement received 13 November 2019 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to avoid any ambiguity as to 
what constitutes the permission. 

2. Proposal and Site Description 

2.1 Proposal 

2.1.1 This proposal seeks to install 2 No. conservation velux roof lights to the east facing roof 
slope.  Install double French doors and steps down to an existing roof terrace and 
renew the guard/handrail to comply with building regulations.  It also seeks to alter the 
hipped roof to a gable end, installing a vertical fully glazed triangular picture window, 
and install 1 No. conservation velux roof light to the north facing roof slope and 1 No. 
conservation velux roof light to the south facing roof slope. 

2.1.2 The plans also show the erection of a new Victoria style iron fence to a height of 1.8 
metres.  This is classed as a permitted development under the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Oder 2015 (as amended), Part 
2, Class A – gates, fences, walls etc, as the proposed fence is under 2 metres in height 
and as such does not require planning permission.  It is also in accordance with the 
Article 4(2) direction, part vii, as the fence would not front a relevant location. 

2.1.3 The installation of solar panels is also classed as a permitted development under the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Oder 2015 
(as amended), Part 14, Class A – installation or alteration etc of solar equipment on 
domestic premises.  Whilst in a conservation area, the proposed solar panels would 
not be installed on a wall which fronts a highway and as such do not require planning 
permission.  It is also in accordance with the Article 4(2) direction, which refers to the 
front of buildings. 

Page  58



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2.1.4 The application provides details on the proposal to paint the rear of the property in a 
pastel colour.  The Article 4(2) direction refers to the front elevation of buildings only in 
this regard.  The painting of the rear elevation would not affect the street scape of the 
conservation area.  As such, these works are considered to be permitted development 
and would not require planning permission. 

2.1.5 It is only the elements described in point 2.1.1 that are to be considered under this 
planning application. 

2.2 Site Description 

2.2.1 Osbourne House is a 4 bedroom terrace house built over 3 floors and is advised to 
have been formally the caretaker’s house of the St Pauls Methodist Church.  The 
principal elevation is stone faced and the rear elevation rendered, under a slate roof. 

2.2.2 It is located on the edge of the town centre of Alston, to the west of the A689 road and 
Victoria Square, close to the Nenthead road at the top of the town. 

2.2.3 There are no listed buildings that would be effected by this proposal.  The site is within a flood 

zone 1, the Alston conservation area and Article 4 direction and is also within the North Pennines Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

3. Consultees 

3.1 Statutory Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Cumbria County Council - 
Highway Authority 

A response was received on the 29 November 2019 
advising of no objections to the proposed 
development. 

Cumbria County Council - 
Lead Local Flood Authority 

A response was received on the 29 November 2019 
advising of no objections to the proposed 
development. 

3.2 Discretionary Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Ministry of Defence A response was received on the 6 December 2019 
advising of no safeguarding objections to this 
proposal. 

Conservation Officer A response was received on the 10 December 2019 
advising ‘The proposals are overall considered to 
have potential to result in less than substantial harm 
to the significance of the conservation area’. 

See 8.6 – Historic Environment for full appraisal. 

4. Parish Council 

 Please Tick as Appropriate 

Parish Council 
Object Support No Response 

No View 
Expressed 

Alston Moor     

4.1 The Alston Moor Parish Council responded on the 11 December 2019 advising 
‘recommended for approval subject to there only being velux windows on the back of 

Page  59



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

the building.  This recommendation was made to encourage consistency of planning 
decision within the conservation area, following a request that the former HSBC 
building should not have velux windows visible from the front’. 

4.2 Discussions took place with the applicant regarding the Parish Council’s comments 
and they confirmed that they wished to retain the proposal in its current form with the 2 
No. conservation velux roof lights to the east facing roof slope. 

4.3 The Alston Moor Parish Council confirmed on the 17 December 2019 that ‘their view 
remains that in the interests of consistency and fairness to applicants living in the town 
centre (this in their opinion is from top to bottom of the main street through the town), 
velux windows should not be visible from the street.  There are no objections to velux 
windows on the back of the building.  This is in line with the recommendation made for 
the former HSBC building’. 

5. Representations 

5.1 Neighbour notification letters were sent out on the 18 November 2019 and a site notice 
was posted on 21 November 2019. 

5.2 There were no letters/e-mails of response received to this proposal. 

6. Relevant Planning History 

6.1 None. 

7. Policy Context 

7.1 Development Plan 

Eden Local Plan (2014-2032): 

 DEV5 – Design of New Development 

 ENV3 – The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 ENV10 – The Historic Environment 

7.2 Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Chapter 4 – Decision Making 

 Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

 Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

 Management of Conservation Areas (2011) 

 North Pennines AONB Planning Guidelines (July 2011) 

 North Pennines AONB Building Design Guide (2011) 

7.3 The policies and documents detailed above are the most relevant policies relating to 
the determination of this application. 

8. Planning Assessment 

8.1 Key/Main Planning Issues 

 Principle 

 Landscape and Visual Impacts 

 Scale and Design 

Page  60



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 Residential Amenity 

 Historic Environment 

8.2 Principle 

8.2.1 Policy DEV5 ‘Design of New Development’ looks (inter alia) for proposals to show a 
clear understanding of the form and character of the district’s built and natural 
environment, complementing and enhancing the existing area.  It also requires 
proposals to reflect the existing street scene and protect the amenity of existing and 
future residents. 

8.2.2 Policy ENV3 ‘The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty’ requires each 
of the following criteria to be met: 

 Individually or cumulatively it will not have a significant or adverse impact upon the 
special qualities or statutory purpose of the AONB. 

 It does not lessen or cause harm to the distinctive character of the area, the 
historic environment, heritage assets and their setting. 

 It adheres to any formally adopted design guides or planning policies, including the 
North Pennines Management Plan, the North Pennines AONB Planning Guidelines 
and the North Pennines AONB Building Design Guide. 

8.2.3 Policy ENV10 ‘The Historic Environment’ says the Council will attach great weight to 
the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment, heritage assets and 
their setting, which help to make Eden a distinctive place. 

8.2.4 The proposal seeks to install 2 No. conservation velux roof lights to the east facing roof 
slope, install double French doors and steps down to an existing roof terrace and 
renew the guard/handrail to comply with building regulations.  The proposal also seeks 
to alter the hipped roof to a gable end, installing a vertical fully glazed triangular picture 
window, and install 1 No. conservation velux roof light to the north facing roof slope 
and 1 No. conservation velux roof light to the south facing roof slope.  The works are 
considered to be sympathetic to the existing dwelling, complementing and enhancing 
the existing area, without creating an adverse impact on the neighbouring amenity. 

8.2.5 As such, in principle this proposal is considered to be acceptable and in accordance 
with the Development Plan, subject to further considerations on landscape and visual 
impacts and the historic environment. 

8.3 Landscape and Visual Impacts 

8.3.1 Osborne House is a stone faced terraced property set back within its curtilage and 
approximately 20 metres to the east of the A689 road. 

8.3.2 To the immediate north of the site is a property known as Dorville, which sees a two 
storey element of its principal elevation forward of the host property.  It is also slightly 
taller, meaning that when travelling up the street in a south easterly direction, the host 
property is only visible when immediately passing it. 

8.3.3 To the immediate south of the site is the former church hall which gained planning 
permission to be converted into two dwellings in 2014.  Adjacent to this is former St 
Pauls Methodist Chapel which sits to the south east of the host property.  Again, due to 
the built up nature of this area, the host property is only visible when immediately 
passing it in a north westerly direction. 

Page  61



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.3.4 To the west of the host property is open land, some of which may be garden land, 
however it is in a unkempt state and slopes away in a westerly direction to terraced 
and semi-detached properties on Church Road approximately 70 metres away. 

8.3.5 It is duly noted that the Parish Council do not consider that velux windows should be 
visible from the street and as such do not support the application.  It is not disputed 
that this type of development has the potential to cause visual impacts on the area, 
however each application is considered on its own merits.  Whilst this type of 
development in a prominent town centre location may not be supportable, Osborne 
House is considered to be on the edge of the town centre, in a residential area, set 
back from the street scene in a more discreet location.  Other examples of velux 
windows on the principal roof slope are also noted to the south east of the site and 
within the conservation area. 

8.3.6 The 2 No. conservation velux roof lights which are subject to the Parish Council’s 
concerns would provide additional light into a room in the roof space. 

8.3.7 The adverse impacts of the 2 No. conservation velux roof lights, on balance are not 
considered to outweigh the benefits of providing a usable habitable space within an 
existing dwelling. 

8.3.8 Overall the proposed works to the property are minor in scale and considered to be in 
accordance with policy DEV5 ‘Design of New Development’, as they show a clear 
understanding of the form and character of the area and to reflect the existing street 
scene through use of appropriate scale, mass, form, layout and use of materials. 

8.3.9 The proposal is also considered to accord with policy ENV3 ‘The North Pennines Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty’ as it does not lessen or cause harm to the distinctive 
character of the area, the historic environment, heritage assets or their setting.  As 
such, for the reasons stated above, this proposal is considered to be acceptable in 
terms of landscape and visual impacts. 

8.4 Scale and Design 

8.4.1 The proposed works include the installation of 2 No. conservation velux roof lights to 
the east facing roof slope, install double French doors and steps down to an existing 
roof terrace and renew the guard/handrail to comply with building regulations, alter the 
hipped roof to a gable end, installing a vertical fully glazed triangular picture window, 
and install 1 No. conservation velux roof light to the north facing roof slope and 1 No. 
conservation velux roof light to the south facing roof slope. 

8.4.2 The proposed conservation velux windows measure approximately 60x90mm and are 
of a standard site and construction. 

8.4.3 The proposed French doors would replace an existing window and provide access to 
the existing balcony area.  It is also proposed to replace the existing guard/handrail to 
comply with building regulations. 

8.4.4 The alteration to the rear hipped roof, to create a gable end would see the roof 
extended by approximately 1.8 metres to be in line with the elevations.  The proposed 
triangular picture window is considered to add an interesting element that would 
improve the appearance of this rear elevation. 

8.4.5 The proposed works are considered to be minor in scale and to enhance the building in 
terms of design in accordance with policy DEV5 ‘Design of New Development’.  The 
works would result in a limited impact upon the character and appearance of the host 

Page  62



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

building, and not to an extent that would result in a degree of harm that would warrant 
the refusal of this planning application. 

8.5 Residential Amenity 

8.5.1 In terms of the potential impacts this development may have on the residential amenity, 
the former church hall attached to the south of Osbourne House is the only building 
with a potential of being effected.  Planning permission was granted in March 2015 
under application 14/1119 to convert the redundant church hall to two dwellings (one at 
ground floor level and one at first floor level).  However, Building Control suggest that 
the church hall conversion has not taken place and that the planning permission may 
have lapsed. 

8.5.2 The location of the proposed French doors to the existing roof terrace would replace an 
existing window.  This is on the south facing side elevation which sits forward of the 
church hall immediately to the south east.  It would appear that there may have been a 
door in this location previously.  The altering of a window to French doors is not 
considered to create an additional impact on the residential amenity in the area. 

8.5.3 It is duly noted that the roof terrace is existing, and therefore has an established use 
which is not required to be assessed as part of this application.  The proposal seeks to 
renew the guard/handrail to comply with building regulations with wrought iron with 
glass infill which is considered to be an improvement on the existing handrail. 

8.5.4 It is acknowledged that there is a potential for overlooking from the roof terrace into the 
church hall, which sees four large windows on its rear elevation.  However, given the 
existing use of the roof terrace, this proposal does not pose any additional or new 
overlooking. 

8.5.5 As such, it is not considered that this proposal would alter the amenity of existing 
residents, and is in accordance with policy DEV5 ‘Design of New Development’. 

8.6 Historic Environment 

8.6.1 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 says 
local planning authorities should pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of conservation areas. 

8.6.2 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF, 2019 states ‘when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation. This is irrespective of whether the potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance’. 

8.6.3 Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states ‘Where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use’. 

8.6.4 The Conservation Officer comments that ‘roof lights are not a traditional feature of 
historic buildings and where they have been installed on buildings within the town they 
are generally retained to the rear facing roof slopes. However there are examples 
within the Townfoot area where roof lights have been added to the front facing slopes 
and these collectively have a minor impact on the roofscape of the conservation area. 
The installation of roof lights on the front (east) roof slope of Osbourne House will 
impact on the roofscape of the conservation area.  As such the proposals do not fully 
conserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area. 

Page  63



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

The alterations to the roof pitch and new openings change the appearance of the rear 
of the property that overlooks fields to the south of the town but there will be no impact 
on the aesthetic heritage value of the conservation area’. 

8.6.5 It is considered that the 2 No. conservation velux roof lights to the east facing roof 
slope are the only element of this proposal with the potential to impact the historic 
environment. 

8.6.6 It is acknowledged that the addition of conservation velux roof lights would alter the 
roofscape and therefore this would create an impact on the conservation area.  
However, the extent of this impact is not considered to be significantly adverse or 
harmful to the overall appearance and setting of the conservation area. 

8.6.7 On balance, given the location of the property on the edge of the town centre, in a 
residential area, set back from the street scene in a discreet location.  Also, the other 
examples of velux windows on the principal roof slopes within the vicinity and the 
Conservation Officers comments that ‘the proposals are overall considered to have 
potential to result in less than substantial harm to the significance of the conservation 
area’.  The proposal is considered to be acceptable in that it would not result in any 
unacceptable impacts or adverse harm upon the appearance or setting of the Alston 
conservation area in accordance with policy ENV10 of the Eden Local Plan and the 
NPPF. 

9. Implications 

9.1 Legal Implications 

9.1.1 The following matters have been considered but no issues are judged to arise.  Each 
application is considered on the particular planning merits. 

9.2 Equality and Diversity 

9.2.1 The Council must have regard to the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment, and the promotion of equality under the Equality Act 2010. 

9.3 Environment 

9.3.1 The Council must have due regard to conserving bio-diversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

9.4 Crime and Disorder 

9.4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must have regard to the need to 
reduce crime and disorder in exercising any of its functions. 

9.5 Children 

9.5.1 Under the Children Act 2004, the Council has a duty to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children in the exercise of any of its functions. 

9.6 Human Rights 

9.6.1 In determining applications, the Council must ensure that all parties get a fair hearing 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 6 under the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 1950, as now embodied in 
UK law in the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Page  64



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

10. Conclusion 

10.1 It is considered that the proposal accords with the Development Plan for the following 
reasons which are not outweighed by material considerations: 

10.2 The proposed works to this dwellinghouse are minor in scale.  The planning merits 
have been weighed against the potential threat to the landscape, visual amenity and 
historic environment.  On balance the 2 No. conservation velux roof lights to the east 
facing roof slope are considered to result in a less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the conservation area.  The other elements of the proposal are 
considered to be acceptable. 

10.3 The proposal is considered to be compliant with policies DEV5 ‘Design of New 
Development’, ENV3 ‘The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty’ and 
ENV10 ‘The Historic Environment’ of the Local Plan, is in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and is therefore recommended for approval subject to the 
conditions set out in this report. 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

 
 

Background Papers: Planning File 19/0759 
 

Checked by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer  

Page  65



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Date of Committee: 13 February 2020 

Planning Application No: 19/0793 Date Received: 4 November 2019 

OS Grid Ref: NY 355191, 
527065 

Expiry Date: 31 December 2019 

Parish: Great Salkeld Ward: Lazonby 

Application Type: Full 

Proposal: Additional holiday lodges at Moss Bank Lodge Park, Great 
Salkeld and erection of a replacement shed 

Location: Moss Bank Lodge Park, Great Salkeld, Penrith 

Applicant: Mr Beard 

Agent: Addis Town Planning Ltd 

Case Officer: Mr N Unwin 

Reason for Referral: Officer recommendation is contrary to that of the Parish 
Council. 

 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and Database 
Rights (2016) 

Grid Ref: NY  

 

Page  66



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and Database 
Rights (2016) 

Grid Ref: NY  

 

Page  67



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

1. Recommendation 

It is recommended that planning permission be Approved subject to the following 
additional conditions: 

Time Limit for Commencement 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
documents and drawings hereby approved: 

i. Application Form, dated 1 November 2019; 

ii. D&A Statement, dated November 2019; 

iii. Landscaping (MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/02), dated 7 October 2019; 

iv. Indicative Elevations (TGR E15-6-7), dated 3 October 2017; 

v. Location Plan (MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/01), dated 7 October 2019; 

vi. Proposed Full Site Plan (MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/03), dated 7 October 2019; 

vii. Proposed Site Plan (MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/04), dated 7 October 2019; 

viii. Storage Shed (MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/05), 7 October 2019; 

iv. CanExel Lap Boarding Brochure. 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to avoid any ambiguity as to 
what constitutes the permission. 

Prior to commencement: 

3. Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage 
scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions 
(inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed after completion) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface 
water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent 
replacement national standards. No surface water shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly. 

 Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of 
policies within the NPPF and NPPG. 

Ongoing Conditions 

4.  Not more than 7 caravans shall be sited at any one time on the land edged red 
on the submitted plan and they shall only be sited as shown on the hereby 
approved document ‘Proposed Site Plan (MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/04), dated 7 October 

Page  68



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2019’. 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to safeguard the amenities of the area. 

5.  The 7 holiday caravans hereby approved shall be used for holiday use only and 
shall not be used as a sole or principal residence by any person. 

 Reason: The site is one which does not accord with the Council’s region or 
national guidance in respect of the spatial distribution of residential 
accommodation for housing. 

6. No later than the first planting season from the first occupancy of any of the new 
holiday caravans hereby approved, landscaping of the site shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the hereby approved document ‘Landscaping 
(MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/02), dated 7 October 2019’. Any trees or plants which, within a 
period of 5 years thereafter, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar sizes 
and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any 
variation. 

 Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area. 

7. There shall be no touring caravans stored or stationed within the application site 
as outlined in red on the hereby approved document ‘Proposed Site Plan 
(MBL/GS/JB/7ALP/04), dated 7 October 2019’. 

 Reason: To protect the character and amenity of the local landscape. 

8. The 7 caravans shall conform to the indicative elevations shown in the hereby 
approved document ‘Indicative Elevations (TGR E15-6-7), dated 3 October 2017’ 
however: 

 The width and length may vary with a maximum length of 46 feet and a 
maximum width of 22.3 feet. 

 The position of window and door openings may vary. 

 Reason: To protect the character and amenity of the local landscape. 

9. The approved colours of the CanExel Lap Boarding are: 

 River Rock 

 Sierra 

 Walnut 

 Granite 

 Reason: To protect the character and amenity of the local landscape. 

10. The approved skirting materials of the caravans are: 

 Limestone 

 Sandstone 

 Darlstone walling in buff brown 

 A continuation of the cladding that is used on the caravan 

 Reason: To protect the character and amenity of the local landscape. 

Page  69



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2. Proposal and Site Description 

2.1 Proposal 

2.1.1 The proposal is for full planning permission for the sitting of 7 additional holiday lodges 
at Moss Bank Lodge Park, Great Salkeld and erection of a replacement shed. 

2.1.2 The application comprises an additional 7 holiday lodges and storage shed with 
associated works to create the pitches, parking and turning areas, drainage and 
landscaping. 

2.2 Site Description 

2.2.1 Moss Bank Holiday Park is located on the Eastern side of the village of Great Salkeld. 
The site extends to the North within the boundaries of the historic field pattern and is 
approximately 1.6 hectares in area. 

2.2.2 The proposed site is within the red line boundary of approval 17/1021 for the use of 
land for siting of 25 holiday lodges, managers accommodation and associated 
infrastructure. Planning application 17/1021 was approved at Committee on 15 
February 2018. 

2.2.3 To the North of the proposed site is a hard surface access track with a drystone wall 
and rise in land to the North of this on which a modern agricultural building is sited. To 
the West of the proposed site is a mature hedgerow and trees adjacent to agricultural 
land. The Eastern boundary is bordered by a mature hedgerow separating the site from 
open agricultural land. To the South are existing holiday lodges approved by 
Committee under planning approval 17/1021. 

2.2.4 The proposed site is primarily comprised of grass and gravel, and has an access track 
running North-South through the centre. There is a large shed currently on the site with 
a footprint of approximately 15 x 22 metres and a ridge height of approximately 2.5 
metres. The shed has timber walls and a corrugated metal roof. The site is primarily 
used for the storage of equipment and materials associated with Moss Bank Lodge 
Park. 

3. Consultees 

3.1 Statutory Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Cumbria CC - Highway and 
LLF Authority 

No objection subject to conditions. 

3.2 Discretionary Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Conservation Officer The overall proposal to increase the number of 
lodges on the site is not considered to be 
sympathetic to or enhance the significance of the 
Conservation Area. 

Cumbria CC - Minerals and 
Waste 

No objection. 

Page  70



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

4. Parish Council 

 Please Tick as Appropriate 

Parish Council 
Support Object No Response 

No View 
Expressed 

Great Salkeld 
Parish Council 

 
 

  

4.1 The Parish Council response is as follows: 

Great Salkeld Parish Council – Object 

‘After discussion and consideration of the documentation, Councillors resolved to 
object to the application based upon the following reasons: 

 The existing roads to the lodge park are narrow back lanes which are not 
constructed for the proposed volume of traffic. Increasing the quantity of units’ 
places further safety risks on pedestrians and other road users. The safety impact 
of the current approved scheme is not determined at this stage as only a small 
number of the units are in occupation. 

 This application takes the total number of lodges on the site to in excess of the 26 
stated in the Decision Notice of the original application, and this increased scale 
proposal will result in the over development of the site, is disproportionate to the 
size of the village and sets a precedent for future expansion. 

 The planning application for holiday lodges on this site was first approved before 
the village became a conservation area in 2008. The extension of this development 
has a significant impact on the conservation of the village with the further loss of 
strip fields which are a key feature of the settlements heritage. 

 There are existing issues with infrastructure capacity in this part of the village. 
Additional development will increase infrastructure problems. 

 The loss of the strips field to the North has a negative impact on the view of the 
village when approaching from Lazonby with the proposed lodges being highly 
visible on rising terrain. 

 Councillors do not believe that the proposed new lodges add any value to the 
village and in fact are reducing sustainability by increasing traffic to quiet country 
lanes. 

 Councillors confirm that if the Planning Officers are of a mind to approve the 
application that the following are considered as part of any conditions: 

 the impact on the landscape and adjacent properties 

 that the ‘holiday use’ condition be adhered to 

 Landscaping conditions incorporated to adequately screen the proposed 
development including the existing park from neighbouring residences 
following the removal of a number of trees as part of the original 
development.’ 

5. Representations 

5.1 Letters of consultation were sent to nearby neighbours and a site notice was posted on 
the 25 November 2019. 

No of Neighbours Consulted 0 No of letters of support 0 

No of Representations Received 0 No of neutral representations 0 

Page  71



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

No of objection letters 0   

6. Relevant Planning History 

Application No Description Outcome 

05/0991 14 Holiday chalets and 1 cabin for use as 
a reception/ office and shop for the site 
and wider village. 

Approved – 19 
January 2006. 

17/0862 Change of use of reception/office 
(approved under 05/0991) to 
reception/office and owners/managers 
residential accommodation. 

Approved - 29 
November 2017. 

17/0863 Use of land for the siting of 14 holiday 
chalets (caravans) and 1 cabin (caravan) 
for use as a reception/office and shop, 
without compliance with condition 3 
(external finishes) imposed on planning 
permission ref 05/0991. 

Approved – 20 
November 2017. 

17/1021 Use of land for siting of 25 holiday 
lodges, managers accommodation and 
associated infrastructure. 

Approved – 26 
February 2018. 

18/0323 Variation of Condition 2 (Plans 
Compliance) to allow various options of 
appearance and size of holiday lodges 
attached to approval 17/1021. 

Approved – 22 June 
2018. 

7. Policy Context 

7.1 Development Plan 

Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 

 LS1 “Locational Strategy” 

 DEV1 “General Approach to New Development” 

 DEV3 “Transport, Accessibility and Rights of Way” 

 DEV5 “Design of New Development” 

 EC4 “Tourism Accommodation and Facilities” 

 ENV1 “Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment, Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity” 

 ENV2 “Protection and Enhancement of Landscapes and Trees” 

 ENV10 “The Historic Environment” 

7.2 Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Chapter 2 Achieving sustainable development 
 Chapter 6 Building a strong, competitive economy 

 Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places 

Page  72



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 Chapter 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 Chapter 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

7.3 The policies detailed above are the most relevant policies relating to this application. 

8. Planning Assessment 

8.1 Key/Main Planning Issues 

 Principle 

 Impact on the Historic Environment 

 Landscape impact 

 Highways impact 

 Planning Balance 

8.2 Principle 

8.2.1 The proposed site is part of existing approval 17/1021 for 25 holiday lodges and the 
lawful use of the proposed site is for tourism accommodation. The principle for the use 
of the site for tourism accommodation has therefore previously been established 
subject to further considerations relating to landscape, historic environment and 
highways. 

8.2.2 The proposal does not result in physical extension of the existing site onto any 
surrounding land as covered by Policy EC4, instead it simply represents a 
reconfiguration of the site which would result in the development of an additional seven 
holiday lodges and replacement storage shed. For this reason Policy EC4 of the Local 
Development Plan is not considered to apply in this instance. 

8.3 Impact on the Historic Environment 

8.3.1 Policy ENV10 of the Local Development Plan states that: 

“The Council will attach great weight to the conservation and enhancement of the 
historic environment, heritage assets and their setting, which help to make Eden a 
distinctive place. 

The Council will require all proposals for development to conserve and where 
appropriate, enhance the significance of Eden’s heritage assets and their setting. The 
Council will support proposals that would better reveal the significance of the asset, in 
particular those heritage assets identified as being most at risk. Opportunities for 
promotion, interpretation and increasing understanding should also be explored. 

Development proposals that would result in substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset or its setting will only be permitted where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the public benefits of the proposal would outweigh the 
harm or loss, and that the harm or loss is necessary to achieve those benefits. 

The Council will require proposals to protect and where appropriate, enhance the 
significance and setting of Eden’s non-designated heritage assets, including buildings, 
archaeological sites, parks, landscapes and gardens. Where the harm is outweighed 
by the public benefits of the proposals, the Council will require an appropriate level of 
survey and recording, the results of which should be deposited with the Cumbria 
Historic Environment Record. 

Where a development proposal affecting an archaeological site is acceptable in 
principle, the Council will ensure preservation of the remains in situ as a preferred 

Page  73



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

solution. Where in situ preservation is not justified, the development will be required to 
make adequate provision for excavation and recording before or during development. 

All development proposals affecting the historic environment, heritage assets and their 
settings (including where there is the potential of unknown archaeological assets) will 
need to be accompanied by an assessment of the significance of the asset and its 
setting and how it will be affected by the proposed development. 

The level of information required will be proportionate to the significance of the asset 
and to the scale of impact of the proposal. For archaeological assets, this may where 
necessary include archaeological desk based assessment and field evaluation. 

The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications 
that directly or indirectly affect non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement 
will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of 
the heritage asset.” 

8.3.2 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF states that: 

“Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss”. 

8.3.3 Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that: 

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 
viable use”. 

8.3.4 Paragraph 201 of the NPPF states that: 

“Not all elements of a Conservation Area or World Heritage Site will necessarily 
contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or other element) which makes a 
positive contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage Site 
should be treated either as substantial harm under paragraph 195 or less than 
substantial harm under paragraph 196, as appropriate, taking into account the relative 
significance of the element affected and its contribution to the significance of the 
Conservation Area or World Heritage Site as a whole”. 

8.3.5 The proposed site is within and adjacent to the Northern boundary of Great Salkeld 
Conservation Area. 

8.3.6 The Conservation Officer has raised concerns regarding the application stating that 
“the proposals to further increase the number of lodges on the site (an additional 7) 
plus construct a new storage shed are not considered to be sympathetic to or an 
enhancement to the significance of the conservation area”. 

8.3.7 The proposed site is part of approval 17/1021. The proposal would result in the 
addition of seven lodges on the proposed site, this is considered a modest increase to 
the 25 lodges and single manager’s accommodation on site. The lodges would be 
subject to the same restrictions regarding size, design and materials as approval 
17/1021 through condition. 

8.3.8 The proposed site has an area of approximately 0.35ha with the remainder of the site 
approved under 17/1021 being 1.79ha. 

Page  74



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.3.9 The proposed storage shed would have a footprint of approximately 12.9 x 8.3 metres 
with a height to the ridge of four metres. Although taller, the footprint is substantially 
smaller than that of the existing shed on the site. The proposed storage shed would 
utilise black larch boarding for the walls and black corrugated metal sheeting for the 
roof. 

8.3.10 The main view points of the proposed site are from the B6412 road approximately 100 
metres to the West of the proposed site and a public footpath approximately 180 
metres to the East. The view of the proposed site from the B6412 is relatively well 
screened through the drystone wall adjacent to the road, low topography of the 
proposed site and mature trees and hedgerow along the Western elevation of the 
proposed site. The view from the public footpath to the East is not as well screened, 
however the nature of a footpath means that its use will be less intense than the B6412 
road and therefore the view will be limited to a lower number of people. 

8.3.11 Outline approval 17/0848 was for five dwellings located on the field directly west of the 
proposed site, adjacent to the B6412 road. Although an outline permission and 
therefore the layout and scale of the dwellings has yet to be established, once these 
are construction they will provide additional screening of the proposed site from the 
B6412 road. 

8.3.12 Based on the above the proposal is considered to have a neutral impact on the 
Conservation Area, particularly when viewed in the context of the existing holiday 
lodges to the South. 

8.3.13 It is acknowledged that the Conservation Officer does not deem the proposal to be 
“sympathetic to or an enhancement to the significance of the conservation area”. Policy 
ENV10 of the Local Development Plan requires proposals to “conserve and where 
appropriate, enhance the significance of Eden’s heritage assets”. The views of the 
Conservation Officer in relation to their interpretation of Policy ENV10 are duly noted. 
However, Policy ENV10 is explicit in that proposals are not necessarily required to 
enhance the significance of heritage assets, where a development would conserve 
them. Although the proposal cannot be said to enhance the Conservation Area, it is 
considered to have a neutral impact. By its definition a neutral impact would conserve 
the significance of the Conservation Area in compliance with the requirements of Policy 
ENV10. 

8.3.14 In accordance with Paragraph 196 of the NPPF the neutral impact of the proposal on 
Great Salkeld Conservation Area must be weighed against the contribution the 
proposal will make to the growth of an existing rural business.  Paragraph 80 of the 
NPPF places significant weight on the need to support economic growth with 
Paragraph 83 requiring planning decisions to enable sustainable rural tourism and 
leisure developments. The economic benefits of the proposal are considered to 
outweigh the neutral impact upon Great Salkeld Conservation Area. 

8.4 Landscape Impact 

8.4.1 Policy ENV2 of the Local Development Plan states that: 

“New development will only be permitted where it conserves and enhances distinctive 
elements of landscape character and function. 

Proposals should take account of and complement: 

 The distribution and form of settlements and buildings within their landscape 
setting. 

Page  75



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 Local styles and materials of buildings within the settlement. 

 Natural elements such as hedgerows, woodland, and local topography. 

 Any visually sensitive skylines or hill and valley sides. 

 The tranquillity of the open countryside. 

The impact of potential new development will be assessed against the criteria within 
the Cumbrian Landscape Assessment Toolkit (or successor documents) with regard to 
the particular Character Area’s key characteristics, local distinctiveness and capacity 
for change. 

Development should contribute to landscape enhancement including the provision of 
new trees and hedgerows of appropriate species and in suitable locations. Loss of 
ancient woodland and significant/veteran trees will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that there is an overriding need for the development which outweighs 
their loss”. 

8.4.2 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that: 

 “Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by: 

 protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological 
value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status of identified 
quality in the development plan); 

 recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider 
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic and 
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and 
woodland”. 

8.4.3 The proposed site is part of approval 17/1021 and currently used for the storage of 
materials used on Moss Bank Lodge Park. Therefore, the application site is not 
considered to be an incongruous development within the countryside. The proposed 
site is relatively small in size particularly when compared to the remainder of Moss 
Bank Lodge Park. The site will be viewed in the context of the more numerous holiday 
lodges to the immediate south. 

8.4.4 The proposed site is considered to comprise a relatively minor part of the landscape 
and its setting, with the site relatively well screened from public view points through its 
topography and existing vegetation. This further reduces the proposal’s impact on the 
landscape. 

8.4.5 Although the East and West boundaries denote a linear field pattern as you approach 
the settlement from the North via the B6412 road, the site is relatively well screened 
from this view point. Therefore the proposed site is not considered to form part of a 
particularly distinctive landscape element. The development is contained within this 
existing field pattern with the row of mature trees and hedgerow to the West and 
hedgerow to the East retained, preserving this field pattern. 

8.4.6 Outline approval 17/0848 is for five dwellings and located on the field directly west of 
the proposed site, adjacent to the B6412 road. Although an outline permission and 
therefore the layout and scale of the dwellings has yet to be established, once these 
are construction they will provide additional screening of the proposed site from the 
B6412 road. 

Page  76



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.4.7 Based on the size of the proposed site, its existing use, proximity to the more 
numerous lodges to the South and existing screening through topography and 
vegetation the proposed development is considered to have a limited landscape 
impact. 

8.5 Highways Impact 

8.5.1 Policy DEV3 of the Local Development Plan states that: 

“Development will be refused if it will result in a severe impact in terms of road safety 
and increased traffic congestion”. 

8.5.2 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that: 

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on 
the road network would be severe”. 

8.5.3 The proposed seven lodges is considered to result in a nominal increase in vehicle 
movements in comparison to that generated by approval 17/1021. The existing access 
is considered sufficient to accommodate this increase. The Highways Authority were 
consulted on the application and raised no objections. 

8.5.4 Given the negligible increase in vehicle movements generated by the proposal and 
lack of objection by the Highways Authority, the proposed development is considered 
to have a severely limited highways impact resulting in no capacity or safety concerns. 

8.6 Planning Balance 

8.6.1 The proposed development would result in an additional seven holiday lodges to be 
sited at Moss Bank Lodge Park. These additional seven units would provide an 
additional economic benefit to an existing rural business which is given significant 
weight by Paragraph 80 of the NPPF. 

8.6.2 The economic benefits of the proposal must be weighed against the impact of the 
proposal on the Conservation Area which is considered to be neutral, the impact on the 
landscape which is considered to be limited and the impact on the highway network 
which is considered to be severely limited. 

8.6.3 On balance, the economic benefits to a rural business are considered to outweigh the 
proposal’s neutral impact on the conservation area, limited landscape impact and 
severely limited highways impact. 

9. Implications 

9.1 Legal Implications 

9.1.1 The following matters have been considered but no issues are judged to arise. Each 
application is considered on the merits. 

9.2 Equality and Diversity 

9.2.1 The Council must have regard to the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment, and the promotion of equality under the Equality Act 2010. 

9.3 Environment 

9.3.1 The Council must have due regard to conserving bio-diversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

Page  77



Agenda Item 4 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

9.4 Crime and Disorder 

9.4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must have regard to the need to 
reduce crime and disorder in exercising any of its functions. 

9.5 Human Rights 

9.5.1 In determining applications, the Council must ensure that all parties get a fair hearing 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 6 under the European Convention on 
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 1950, as now embodied in UK law in the 
Human Rights Act 1998. 

10. Conclusion 

10.1 The proposed development would facilitate the growth and expansion of an existing 
rural business which is given significant weight by Paragraph 80 of the NPPF. 

10.2 The proposed site is viewed in the context of the remainder of the much larger site with 
25 existing lodges and manager’s accommodation. The proposed site is well screened 
from existing public view points and is considered to have a neutral impact on the 
Conservation Area. Therefore the impact on the landscape is limited and the impact on 
the Conservation Area is neutral. 

10.3 The economic benefits of the proposal are considered to outweigh the limited 
landscape impact and neutral impact on the Conservation Area of the proposal. 

10.4 For the above reasons the application is recommended to be approved. 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

 
 

Background Papers: Planning Files 19/0973 

Checked by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer  

Page  78



1 

Report No: PP5/20 

Eden District Council 

Planning Committee 
13 February 2020 

Quarterly Planning Performance Report – 2019/20 
Quarter 3 

Portfolio: Eden Development 

Report from: Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

Wards: All Wards save for those wards that are wholly within the Lake 
District or Yorkshire Dales National Park. 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1. Purpose 

1.1 To provide Members with an overview of the ongoing performance of the 
Council’s Planning Service in relation to Key Performance Indicators and 
Planning Enforcement matters. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the report be noted. 

3. Report Details 

3.1.1 This report supplements the Annual Planning Performance Report produced 
in May each year for the Council’s Annual Meeting, relating to the Council’s 
performance against National Targets as set by the Government. The report 
provides members with a more regular overview and update in relation to 
Planning Performance. 

3.1.2 The reporting period covered in this report includes quarter 3 of 2019-2020, 
from 01 October 2019 up to 31 December 2019. 

Performance Statistics 

Development Management – Planning Applications 

 

Table 1: Number of Planning Applications Received 

Applications Received 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 312 277 254 262 1105 

2018/2019 280 264 196 240 980 

2019/2020 231 240 205 - - 

Page  79

Agenda Item 7



2 

Table 1 does not include all work received by the Planning Service such as 
applications for non-material amendments, Tree Preservation Order works, 
Discharge of Conditions or Certificates of Lawfulness. 

 

Table 2: Major Planning Applications Determined (13 week determination 
period) 

Major Development 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 100% 

(9 of 9) 

100% 

(11 of 11) 

100% 

(7 of 7) 

100% 

(7 of 7) 

100% 

(34/34) 

2018/2019 100% 

(7 of 7) 

100% 

(7 of 7) 

100% 

(5 of 5) 

100% 

(6 of 6) 

100% 

(25 of 25) 

2019/2020 100% 

(5 of 5) 

100% 

(9 of 9) 

100% 

(3 of 3) 

 
- 

 
- 

(National Target 60%) 

 

 

Table 3: Minor Planning Applications Determined (8 week determination 
period) 

Minor Development 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 94.8% 

(74 of 78) 

95.6% 

(66 of 69) 

96% 

(94 of 98) 

94.4% 

(55 of 61) 

94.4% 

(289 of 306) 

2018/2019 89% 

(73 of 82) 

89% 

(65 of 73) 

84.7% 

(50 of 59) 

92.8% 

(52 of 56) 

88.8% 

 (240 of 270) 

2019/2020 98% 

(51 of 52) 

93.3% 

(56 of 60) 

100% 

(43 of 43) 

 
- 

 
- 

(National Target 70%) 

 

  

Page  80



3 

 

Table 4: Other Development Applications Determined (various determination 
periods) 

Other Development 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 100% 

(83 of 83) 

97% 

(100 of 103) 

99% 

(76 of 77) 

93.2% 

(69 of 74) 

97.3% 

(328 of 366) 

2018/2019 87.5% 

(84 of 96) 

88.2% 

(83 of 96) 

97.1% 

(68 of 70) 

90.9% 

(60 of 66) 

91.1% 

(297 of 326) 

2019/2020 97% 

(89 of 91) 

99% 

(99 of 101) 

98.6% 

(72 of 73) 

 
- 

 
- 

(National Target 70%) 

 

 

Table 5: Pre-Application Enquiries received (28 Day target turn around) 

Pre-Application Enquiry 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 49 Received 

£5,616 

59 Received 

£5,610 

38 Received 

£4,326 

51 Received 

£6,000 

197 
Received 

£21,552 

2018/2019 46 Received 

£4,836 

57 Received 

£5,700 

36 Received 

£4,320 

46 Received 

£4,800 

185 
Received 

£19,656 

2019/2020 59 Received 

£8,424 

45 Received 

£6,810 

50 Received 

£8,232 

- - 

  

Page  81



4 

Development Management - Enforcement 

Table 6: Enforcement Complaints Received 

Enforcement Complaints 
Received 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 40 

 

32 

 

29 

 

29 

 

130 

 

2018/2019 42 43 33 29 147 

2019/2020 43 36 20 - - 

 

Table 7: Enforcement Cases Closed 

Enforcement 
Complaints Closed 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 29 

 

45 

 

39 

 

39 

 

152 

 

2018/2019 38 33 43 31 145 

2019/2020 24 32 33 - - 

 

Table 8: Enforcement and other Notices Served 

Notices Served 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2017/2018 7 

 

2 

 

5 

 

8 

 

22 

 

2018/2019 3 

 

4 

 

3 1 8 

2019/2020 3 2 1 - - 

Page  82



5 

Table 9: Planning fees resulting from Enforcement Investigations 

No of Applications 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2019/2020 £3,070 

(12 
applications)  

£3,190 

(8 
applications) 

£2,090 

(7 
applications) 

- - 

 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Relevant Director    

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 28 January 2020 

Relevant Assistant Director  

Background Papers: None 

Appendices: None 

Contact Officer:  Nick Atkinson, Planning Services Development Manager 
  Tel 01768 212362 

 

Page  83



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Appeal Decision Letters
	Eden District Council
	Planning Committee 13 February 2020
	Appeal Decision Letters
	Report of the Assistant Director Planning  and Economic Development

	5 Planning Issues
	RefusalNotice

	6 Planning Issues - Applications for Debate (Green Papers)
	7 Quarterly Planning Performance Report - 2019/20 Quarter 3

